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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholder of 0Q SAOC
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OQ SAOC (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 4 to 145, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)
(IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended
31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those statements on 23 March 2020.
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continued from page 1
Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the Chairman’s report incorporated in the annual report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and their preparation
in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Commercial Companies Law of
2019, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group ’'s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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continued from page 2

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group ’s
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group ’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We report that these financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of Commercial Companies Law of 2019.

kEME
K ;
24 March 2021 B e rate | KPMG LLC
P0Box 641, PC 112
Sultanats of Oman
CRNo: 1358131
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0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes ROG00 ROGON
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment [ 4,243,773 5,162,488
Oil and gas production and development assets 7 1,076,046 1,213,944
Right-of-use assefs 8 175,261 184,623
Intangible assets 9 £12,638 153,099
Goodwill 10 13,170 12,328
Investment in agsociates 11 147,008 274514
Interest in joint ventures 12 278,174 439,610
Deferred tax assels 41 36,602 31,696
Concession receivables 13 772,298 610,366
Lease receivables 14 250,191 258,961
Contract assets 15 146,198 200,268
Due from related parties 31 ££7,036 54,351
Other ron-current assets 18 13,456 17,335
Total nor-current assets 7,381,851 8700663
Current assefs
Inventories 19 546,450 512,324
Yrade and other receivables 28 746,852 675016
Concession receivables — current portion 13 16,466 20,662
Lease recejvables — cusrent portion 14 9,157 8,227
Due from related parties 31 59,022 252 823
Investments at {air value through profit and loss 16b 304,279 366,805
Derivatives 21 73,714 75.590
Short-tenn deposits 17 203,331 172,563
Cash and cash equivalents 22 60,769 367,501
Total current assets 2,430,040 2651511
Assets held for sale 16a 76,418 -
Total assels 9,888,309 11,352,114
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capifal 23 3,428,436 3,315,293
Share capital peading regisiration 23 194 113,337
Statufory reserve 24 95,730 95,730
Other reserve 25 16,249 16,249
Fair value reserve 26 {99,378) {43,965)
Translation reserve 12,132 {33,167)
Retained earnings / (accumuiated losses) {788,834} 921,125
Equity attributable {0 equity holders of the parent 2,664,629 4,382,602
Mon-controiling interests 39,170 43,770
Total equity 2,703,799 4426372
Nou-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings ha) 4,339,767 1935761
Lease Tiakilities 28 149,825 157,120
Employees” end-of-service bencfits 19 77,6684 70,353
Provision for site restoration and abandomnent cosi 30 134,850 113,392
Dug to relatgd pariies 31 13,440 9,271
Deferred tax iabilities 41 150,183 141,741
eTivatives 2 61,212 38,840
Othes liabilities 32 25,493 30,207
TFotal non-current liabilities 4,972,374 4 456,691
Carrent linbilities
Trade and other payables 33 1,108,480 1.232,128
Loans and borrowings 27 704,880 836,766
Lease finbitities 28 30,819 31,108
Derivatives 21 68,772 64,385
Due to related patties 31 284,549 250,042
Income ax 41 14,636 14,622
Total current liabilities 2,212,136 2,429,051
Total liabilities 7,184,510 6925742
Total equity and liabilities 9,888,309 11,352,114

These cansoiidged financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Direciorsian 23 March 2021,

—— s 5

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consalidated financial statements.

Chairman Gru@ &ﬁiefﬁiecuﬁ'\'e Officer
| HOF



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2020

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Investment (loss}/ income

Share of results of equity accounted investients
Other income

Administrative expenses

Impairment losses (charged) / released
Operating (loss) / profit

Finance income

Finance expense

Foreign exchange gains / (losses) - nel
(Loss) / profit for the year before tax
Income tax expense

(Loss) / profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss) / income:
Ttems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation difference relating to subsidiaries
Foreign currency translation difference on investment in associates
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
Ttemis 1ot to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Fair value changes due to dilution of subsidiary
Transfer to defined benefit plan, actuarial gains and losses
Other comprehensive loss, net
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year
(Loss} / profit for the year attributabie to:

- Equity hotders of the parent

- Noen-controfling interests
(Loss) / profit for the year
Total comprehensive {loss} / income attributable to:

- Equity holders of the parent

- Non-controliing interests
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

(Loss) / earnings per share
Basic aund diluted (loss) / earnings per share

The accompanying notes form an integrai part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

34
34

35
36
37
38
39

40
40
46

41

i1
26
26

42

5
2020 2019
RO'00D ROO00
5,393,789 7,330,812
(5,142,171} (6,838,157)
251,618 492,655
(64,881) 8,963
(210,275) 34,146
41,115 88,333
(255,454) (263,653)
(1,344,003) 34,347
(1,575,880) 394,791
16,664 20,023
(141,694 (174,896)
(2,559) 1,108
(1,703,509) 241,026
(13,435) (9,762)
(1,716,944) 231,264
41,936 (10,438)
3,463 (6,059)

988 {672
(50,482) (72,406)
(3,919) -
(2,935) (4,594)
(10,949) {94,169
(1,727,893) 137,005
(1,717,588) 229,894
644 1,370
(1,716,944} 231,264
(1,728,537) 135,723
644 1370
(1,727,893) 137,095
(0.31) 0.068
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0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL, COMPANY SAOC) & ITS SUBSIDIARIES

8
Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020
Notes 2020 2019
RO000 RO00
Operating activities
(Loss)/ profit before tax (1,703,509) 241,026
Adjustments for : non-cash and others items:
Charge / (reversal) of impairment losses — net 39 1,344,603 (34,34
Share of results of equily accounted investees 36 210,275 (34,146)
Realised gain on sale of investiments 35 10,166 {2,422)
Depreciation including right of use assets G 475,266 491,085
Unwinding of discount on site restoration and abandonment cost 30 8,272 6,729
Amortizatien of intangible assets 6 22,834 19,621
Accrual for end of service benefils 29 14,297 16,553
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,341) -
Amortization of deferred financing costs 435 4,832 5002
Finance cost 40 28,590 159,662
Finance income 40 (16,6643 (20,023)
Unrealized losg on itvestreens 35 66,445 17,345
Emplovees’ end of service benelits paid 19 (7,047) (4.438)
Other movement in other non-curfent asset 3,898 {7,659
Other movements in nen-cerrent liabifities {4,755} 12,464
Concession income 13 (56,057} {58,358%)
Operating cash fows before working eapital changes 499,545 870,863
Working eapital changes:
inventories {34,124y 2,144
Trade and other receivables {66,541) 265332
Concession receivables {111,679 (152,437
1Lease receivables 8,600 7,542
Contract assets 144,070 (54,498)
"Trade and other payables {125,646} (281,031)
Due from retated parties 193,801 (146,276)
Due to related parties 34,507 (133 48%)
Cash from operations 542,542 378,158
Taxes paid (E4,150) {142.458)
Net cash from operating activities 528,392 215 698
Investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6 {479,577) {594 698)
Proceads from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3,496 53,326
Additions of investment in equity accounted investees 11 & 312 {59,392} {83291
Acquisition of oil and gas exploration and production assets 7 (284,067) (318,940)
Proceeds from disposal of equity acconnted investments 11 & §2 44,263 4,630
Dividend received from equity accounted investees I&12 21,112 16,040
Payments to related parties (470} -
Receipis from related panties 4,169 .
Payment for intangible assets 9 (3,749 (4,642)
Net movement in term deposits 17 (30,768) 615,545
Finance income received 40 16,604 20,023
Net cash used in investing activities (770319 (292.013)
Financing activities
Interest paid (124,540) {152,933y
Dividends paid to non-controiling interests (1,974} (8,634)
Proceeds from loans ard borrowings 45 949,314 373,777
Repavment of loans and borrowings 435 {652,400 (374.2720)
Repayment of lease labilities 28 (46,867} (31.477)
Payment against purchase of shares from noun-controlling interests 2 - {19,255)
Net cash from financing activities 123,533 (12.748)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents {118,394) (69,063)
Translation adjusiments 11,662 16,101
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 367,5H 620,463
Casls and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 £60,769 567,501

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial staterment.



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2020

1 Legal status and principal activities

9

0OQ SAQC, (formerly Oman Gil Company SAQOC) (“the Parent”™ ot “the Parent Company™) is a closed
joint stock company domiciled in the Sultanate of Oman. The consolidated financial statements as at
and for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Parent Cotnpany and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as “the Group” and individually as “Group entities™) and the Group’s interest in associates
and joint ventures. The Parent Company primarily is invelved in the business of identifying, acquiring,
managing, operating inferests in petroleum and other energy related enterprises and dealing in
investments. The Group is primarily engaged in exploration, production, marketing and distribution
of petroleum and petroleum by-products. The Group operates in the Suitanate of Oman, United Arab
Emirates, India, Pakistan, Korea, China, Hungary, Portugal, Spain, Chile, Germany, United States of
America and Kazakhstan, The registered address of the Parent Company is P O Box 261, Postal Code
118, Sultanate of Oman.

The Parent Company is wholly owned by the Oman Investment Authority (2019 Ministry of Finance).
During the vear, the shareholding of the Parent Company was transferred from Ministry of Finance to
Oman Investment Authority (OIA).

With effect from 13 February 2020, the legal name of Oman Oil Company SAOC was changed to 0OQ

SAOQC.

2 Group entities

The Group has the following investments in subsidiaries:

Country of

% holding

% holding

Company name Notes  incorperation 2020 2019
Oman Oil Heldings Spain 8L (OOHS) Spain 160% 100%
Oman Oil (Hungary) Limited (COHL) Cayman [slands 100% 100%
QOnian Oil (Budapest) Limited {OOBL) (held through OOHL) Cayman Islands 1060% 100%5
Oman Cil {5.E. Asia) Holdings (COSEAH) Cayman [slands 100% 100%
Oman i (Singapore Holdings) (OOSH) (held through OOSEAH} Cayman Islands 100% 100%
Oman Pearls Company Limited (OPCL) Cayman Istands 180% 100%
Oman Gif (Upstream) Holdings Limited (OOUHL) Cayman Islands 100% 160%
OQ Exploration and Production L.L.C (formerly Oman Oil Company
Explozration & Production LLC) (OQEP) i Sultanate of Oman 180% 1H00%
Abraj Energy Services SAOC (held through OQEP) Sultanate of Oman 180% 0%
OQEP Holding Limited (held through GQEP) Cayman Isiands 180% 100%
Abutubul LLC (held tirough OQER) Sultanate of Oman 100% 100%
Musandam Gas Plant LLC (held through OQEP) Sultanate of Oman 106% 100%
Makarim Gas Bevelopment LLC (held through OQER} Sultanate of Oman 100% 100%
Musanda (il & Gas Company LLC (held through GQEP} Sultanate of Oman 106% 100%
Oman Ol Company Limited (QOCL) Bermuda 100% 100%
Oman Oil Services Limited (OOSL}Y Bermuda 100% 100%
Oman Energy Trading Company Limited {OETCL) Bermauda 100% 1006%
Note 12
Takatuf Oman LLC (Iii} Sultanate of Oman 100% 100%
Oman Oif Intersational Limited (OOIL) {held through OETCL}) Cayman Islands 0% H%
0Q Trading LLC (OGQT) {held through CO1L) it United Arab Emirates 100% 100%
Musandam Power Company SAOC (held through OQ GN) 11éx)  Sultanate of Oman 41.85% 41.85%
Oman Oif Helding Europe B.V (OOHE) Netherlands 100% 100%
Sumwhuram: Energy B.Y {SE) (held through OCHE} Netherlands 100% 100%
Sumburan: Energy Chile 1 SpA (SEC 1) (held through SE} Chile 100% 100%
Sumhuram: Energy Chile 11 Limitada (SEC 1} (held through SEC I) Chile 100% 100%
Mazoon B.V (held through QOHE) Netherlands 100% 100%
MNetherlands 100% 100%

Majan Energy B.V (held through GOHE)



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Group entities (continued)

Company name Notes

0O} Chemical International Holding Drei GinbH (held through
Majan Energy B.V

00 Chemicals Holding Drei GmbH, Monheim am
Rhein/Germany

00 Chemicals Holding Zwei GmbH (held through Majan Energy
B.V)

00 Chemicals GmbH (held through Majan Eneray B.V)

OPG 00 Beteiligungs-GimbH

O Chemicals GmbH {held through Majan Energy B.Y)

OQ Infrastrukiur GinbH & Co. KG {held throughs Majan Energy B.V}
{0 Chemicals Nederland B.V {held through Majan Energy B.V}
OGO Infrastrukiur GmbH (held through Majan Energy B.V)

0Q Cheaieals Japan KX (held through Majan Energy BV)

O Chemicals Singapore Pie. LTD (held through Majan Energy
B.)

Q0 Chemicals UK LTD. {held through Majan Energy B.V)

O Chemicals Helding Corporation (held through Majan Energy
B.V)

OQ Chemicals Corporation (held through Majan Energy B.V})

0Q Services LLC (held through Majan Energy B.V)

00 Chemical Bishop LLC (held through Majan Energy 8.V)

00 Quimicos Brasil Participagdes LTDA (held through Majan
Energy BV}

OQ International GmbH (held through Majan Energy B.V}

00 Advanced Denivatives LTD. (held through Majan Energy B.V)
O Chemicals Production GmbH & Co. KG (held throngh Majan
Energy B.V)

00 Services GmbH ¢hield through Majan Energy B.V)

Oman Pearls Company Limited - UK (OPCL}

Oman Oil Matketing Comgpany SACG (OOMCO) iti
00 Methanoi(SFZ} L.L.C. formerly (Salalah Metharol £1.C) (SMC)
Takamul Investment Company LLC {TIC)

Oman Aleminium Rolting Company LLC (held through TIC)
Rolling Mill Holding Company Limited (held through TiC}

Sohar Sulphur Fertilizer LLC {held through TiC)

Centratised Utitities Company LLC {held through GOFDC) Note
Dugim Power Company LLC (DPC) (held through CUC) 12{V)
Sohar Paper Cores L1.C (held through TIC)

Oman Parified Isophthalic Acid Company LLC (held through TIC)
Dugm Management & Services LLC (held through TiC)

Takamul Holding Company Limited

Dugm: Petreleurs Terminal Company LLC (DPTC)

Oman Tank Terminal Company LLC (OTTCO)

0Q Gas Networks 5 A.0.C formerly (Oman Gas Company SAOC)
{0Q GN)

Oman Oil Dugint Development LLC

Oman Oil Facilities Development Company LLC

Oman Iniemational Petrochemical Industry Company LLC

OQ L PG (SFZ) L.L.C fornerly {Satalah LPG SFZCO LLC) (SLPG)
Oman Gas international

OQ Refineries and Petrolenm Industries L.L.C (formerly Oman Oil
Refineries and Petroleum Industries Comgpany LLC) {GQ RPL)

00 Refineries L.L.C {formerly ORPIC Refineries LLC}

OO Aromatics L.1.C (formerly ORPIC Aromatics LLC)

Q) Plastics L.L.C (formerly ORPIC Plastics LLC)

CQ Depots L.L.C (formerly ORPIC Depot L1.C)

Q0 Marketing L.1..C (formerly ORPIC Polymer Marketing LLC)

Country of
incorporation

Germany
Germany

Germany
Germany
Gerinany
Gemmany
Germany
Netherlands
Gennany
Japan

Singapore
United Kingdom

United States of America
United States of America
United States of America
United States of America

Brasil
(Germany
China

Gennany
Genmany

United Kingdom
Sulianate of Oman
Sultanate of Oman
Sultanate of Oman
Sultanate of Oman
Cayman Islands
Sultanate of Oman
Sultanate of Oman
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Group entities (continued)

i.

The Group has the following material interests, all of which are located within the Sultanate of
Oman.

Name Participating Interest Operator Activity

(2020 & 2019)
Block 60 100% OQEP Exploration and production
Block 48 100% OQEP Exploration
Block 42 50% OQEP Exploration
Block 9 45% Occidental Exploration and production
Block 61 30% BP Exploration and production
Block 65 2% Occidental Exploration and production
Block 30 27% Occidental Exploration and production
Karim 25% Medco Production service agreement
Rima 25% Petrogas Production service agreement
Block 53 20% Occidental Exploration and production
Block 52 15% ENI Exploration

All interests of less than 100% are Joint Operations. OQEP also has interests in gas purchase and
sale contracts relating to Dolphin field.

ii.

iit.

On 27 June 2019, Oman Energy Trading Company Limited (OETCL); a wholly owned
subsidiary of OQ SAOQC, purchased 30% shares of OQ Trading LLC (OQT) from Eagle
Properties (No 21) Limited; a wholly owned subsidiary of State General Reserve Fund (SGRF)
at a purchase consideration of RO 53 million, which resulted in 100% ownership by the Group
in OQT. The settlement of the purchase consideration was made partially in cash and by
divesting shares of Mineral Development Oman and Innovation Development Oman Holding
Company SAOC. Excess of the purchase consideration (as determined below) is recorded in the

statement of changes in equity:

RO000
Mineral Development Oman 14,834
Innovation Development Oman Holding Company SAOC 18,910
Cash 19,256
Total purchase consideration 53,060
30% of OQT net worth 37,742
Excess 15,258

Although the Group owns less than half of the total share capital of QOMCO, the management
of the Parent Company assessed that the Group has control over its investment in OOMCO based
on whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of OOMCO
unilaterally. The management considered the Group’s absolute size of holding in OOMCO and
relative size of and dispersion of the shareholding owned by the other sharcholders. After
assessment, the management, concluded that the Group has a sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the refevant activities of OOMCO.
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3.1

3.2

Group entities (continued)

Therefore, the Group has control over COMCQO by virtue of Article 3 of chapter two of OOMCO’s
Articles of Association, which entitles the holder of multi vote share to two votes at the Annual
General Meeting of OOMCO. The Group holds 3,225,000 multi vote shares and 28,380,000
ordinary shares, which give it an overall voting power of 51.43% in OOMCO.

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by IASB, applicable provisions of the
requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019 the Sultanate of Oman.

'The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for
investments at fair value through profit and loss and derivatives, which are measured at fair value,

The Group comprises operations with a number of functional currencies, The Parent Company’s
functional currency is Rial Omani (“*R0™). Management uses RO for controlling and maintaining
the performance and financial position of the Group and accordingly the consolidated financial
statements are presented in Rial Omani.

All financial information presented in RO has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries as at 3| December 2020. Conirol is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, fo variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee),

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
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3.

3.2

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers ali relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

e The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee.
e Rights arising from other contractual arrangements.
e The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it costirols an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are inciuded in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on conselidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, if:

o derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests

derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity

recognises the fair value of the consideration received

recognises the fair value of any investment retained

recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or labilities.

® & ® © 9

Transactions with non-coniroiling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideraiion
paid and the refevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
re measured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

32

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation {continued)
Transactions with non-controlling interests {continued)

The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group's investments in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method,

Under the equity method, the investiment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at
cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share
of net assets of the associate or joint ventiure since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating fo the
associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and s not separately
tested for impairment.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of
the associate or joint venture. Any change in other comprehensive income (OCI) of those investees
is presented as part of the Group’s OCIL. In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on
the face of the statement of profit or loss and represents share of profit or loss after tax and non-
controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period
as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with
those of the Group.
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3.2

Basis of preparation {continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture, At each reporting date, the
Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint
venture is impaired, If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value,
and then recognises the loss as ‘Impairment’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
camrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

Interest in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

When a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator
recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

e Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly.

s Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly.

e its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation.
s Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation.

» Hs expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint
operation in accordance with the IFRSs applicable fo the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a Group entity is a joint operator {(such
as a sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered {o be conducting the transaction with the
other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a Group entity is a joint operator (such
as a purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells
those assets to a third party.
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3.

3.2

3.3

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Transactions with related parties
The Group has applied the exemption under IAS 24 paragraphs 25 and 26, and have not disclosed
the related party transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments related to:

(a) a government that has control or joint control of, or significant influence over, the reporting
entity; and

{b) another entity that is a related party because the same government has control or joint control of,
or significant influence over, both the reporting entity and the other entity.

In applying the exemption, the Group has disclosed the following related to the transactions and
related outstanding balances:

{a)the name of the government and the nature of its relationship with the reporting entity (i.e. control,
joint control or significant influence) ;

(b)the following information in sufficient detail to enable users of the entify's financial statements
to understand the effect of related party transactions on its financial statements:

(i) the nature and amount of each individually significant transaction; and

{ii) for other transactions that are collectively, but not individually, significant, a qualitative
or quantitative indication of their extent.

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

Standards issued and effective

The Group has initially adopted Definition of a Business {Amendments to IFRS 3) and Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform {Amendments to IFRS 9, TAS 39 and [FRS 7} from 1 January 2020. A number
of other new standards are also effective from | January 2020, but they do not have a material effect
on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group applied Definition of a Business {Amendments o TFRS 3) to business combinations
whose acquisition dates are on or after § January 2020 in assessing whether it had acquired a business
or a group of assets. The details of accounting policies are set out in Note 4. See also Note 16 for
details of the Group’s acquisition of subsidiary during the year.

Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020 and
earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended
standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

A. Onerous contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

The amendments specify which costs an entity includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a
contract for the purpose of assessing whether the contract is onerous. The amendments apply for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after I January 2022 to contracts existing at the date when
the amendments are first applied.
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3.

3.3

Basis of preparation (continued)

Application of new and revised Infernational Finaneial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
{confinued)

At the date of initial application, the cumulative effect of applying the amendments is recognised as
an opening balance adjustment to retained earnings or other components of equity, as appropriate.
The comparatives will not be restated,

The Group has determined that all contracts existing at 31 December 2020 will be completed before
the amendments become effective.

B. Interest Rate Benchmark Reforin - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS
4 and IFRS 16)

The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting as a result of the reform of an
interest rate benchmark, including the effects of changes to contractual cash flows or hedging
relationships arising from the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative
benchmark rate. The amendments provide practicai relief from certain requirements in IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 relating to:

-— changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities; and

— hedge accounting.

i. Change in basis for determining cash flows

The amendments will require an entity to account for a change in the basis for determining the
confractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial fiability that is required by interest rate
benchmark reform by updating the effective interest rate of the financial asset or financial Hability,
At 31 December 2020, the Group has OMR 5,064.6 million LIBOR bank loans that will be subject
to IBOR reform. The Group expects that the interest rate benchmark for these loans will be changed
to SOFR in 2021 and that no significant modification gain or loss will arise as a8 result of applying
the amendments to these changes.

ii. Hedge accounting

The amendments provide exceptions to the hedge accounting requirements in the following areas.
- Allow amendment of the designation of a hedging relationship to reflect changes that are required
by the reform.

— When a hedged item in a cash flow hedge is amended to reflect the changes that are required by
the reform, the amount aceumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve will be deemed to be based on
the alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged future cash flows are determined.

— When a group of ifems is designated as a hedged item and an item in the group is amended to
reflect the changes that are required by the reform, the hedged items are allocated to subgroups based
on the benchmark rates being hedged.

— If an entity reasonably expects that an alternative benchmark rate will be separately identifiable
within a period of 24 months, it is not prohibited from designating the rate as a non-contractually
specified risk component if it is not separately identifiable at the designation date

At 31 December 2020, the Group has cash flow hedges of USD LIBOR risk. The Group expects that
indexation of the hedged items and hedging instruments to USD LIBOR will be replaced with SOFR
in 2021.
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3.  Basis of preparation (continued)

3.3 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
{continued)

Whenever the replacement occurs, the Group expects to apply the amendments related to hedge
accounting. However, there is uncertainty about when and how replacement may occur. When the
change occurs to the hedged item or the hedging instrument, the Group will remeasure the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item or the fair value of the interest rate swap,
respectively, based on SOFR.

Hedging relationships may experience hedge ineffectiveness if there is a timing or other mismatch
between the transition of the hedged item and that of the hedging instrument to SOFR. The Group
does not expect that amounts accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve will be immediately
reclassified to profit or loss because of IBOR transition.

iii. Disclosure
The amendments will require the Group to disclose additional information about the entity’s
exposure to risks arising from interest rate benchmark reform and related risk management activities.

iv. Transition
The Group plans to apply the amendments from | January 2021. Application wiil not impact
amounts reported for 2020 or prior periods.

C. Other standards
The following new and amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.

— COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions {Amendment to IFRS 16).

—— Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to 1AS 16).
— Reference to Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3).

—— Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1).

— IFRS 1" Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

4.  Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the periods presented,
unless otherwise stated.

4.1  Oil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

Oil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development expenditure is accounted for using the
successful efforts method of accounting.

Pre-licence costs

Pre-licence costs are expensed in the period in which they are incwrred.
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4.1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continuned)
Qil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development expenditure (continued)
Licence and property acquisition cosis

Exploration lcence acquisition costs are capitalised in intangible assets. Licence costs paid in
connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised over
the term of the permit.

Licence and property acquisition costs are reviewed at each reporiing date to confirm that there is
no indication that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Upon recognition of proved reserves and internal approval for development, the relevant expenditure
is transferred to oil and gas assets.

Exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation (E&E) activity involves the search for hydrocarbon resocurces, the
determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified
resource.

Costs directly associated with exploration wells are capitalised as E&E intangible assets until the
drilling of the well is complete and the results have been evaluated. Costs include directly
attributable to employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to
contractors. Geological and geophysical costs are expensed as incurred.

If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered, the E&FE asset is written off. H potentially
commercial hydrocarbons are found the costs continue to be carried as an intangible asset while the
discovery is appraised. Costs directly associated with appraisal activity are initially capitalised as an
intangible asset. Al capitalised E&E cosis are subject to technical, commercial and management
review, as well as a review for indicators of impairment at least once a year, Where it is determined
that a discovery is not pofentially commercial the costs are written off as an exploration expense.
All capitalised E&E costs are subject to technical, commercial and management review, as well as
assessment for impairment based on the identification of impairment indicators at least once a year.

On commencement of development capitalised E&E expenditure is first assessed for impairment
and (if required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the remaining balance is transferred to
fixed assets. Other than licence costs, no amortisation is charged during the E&E phase.

Farm-outs - in the exploration and evaluation phase

The Group does not record any expenditure made by the farmee on its account. It also does not
recognise any gain or loss on its exploration and evaluation farm-out arrangements, but redesignates
any costs previously capitalised in relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial interest
retained.

Any cash consideration received directly from the farmee is credited against costs previously
capitalised in relation to the whole interest.
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4.1

4.2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Qil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development expenditure (continued)
Farm-outs - other than in the exploration and evaluation phase

In accounting for a farm-cut arrangement other than in the exploration and evaluation phase, the
Group:

e Derecognises the proportion of the asset that it has sold to the farmee.

e Recopnises the consideration received or receivable from the farmee, which represents the cash
received and/or the farmee’s obligation to fund the capital expenditure in relation to the interest
retained by the farmor.

» Recognises a gain or loss on the transaction for the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset disposed of. A gain is recognised only when the value of
the consideration can be determined reliably. If not, then the Group accounts for the
consideration received as a reduction in the carrying amount of the underlying assets.

s Tests the refained inferests for impairment if the ferms of the arvangement indicate that the
retained interest may be impaired.

Development costs

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as
platforms, pipelines and the drilling of development wells, including unsuccessful development or
delineation wells, is capitalised within fixed assets.

Qil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment
Tuitial recognition

i} and gas assets and other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase
price or construction cost, any costs directly atiribitable to bringing the asset into operation, the
initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs. The
purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other
consideration given to acquire the asset. The capitalised value of a lease is also included within

property, plant and equipment.

When a development project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of development
costs ceases, and costs are either regarded as part of the cost of inventory or expensed, except for
costs which qualify for capitalisation relating to asset additions, improvements or new
developments.
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4.2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment (continued)
Major mainfenance, inspection and repairs

Expenditure on major maintenance, refits, inspections or repairs comprises the cost of replacement
assets or parts of assets, inspection costs and overhaul costs. Where an asset, or part of an asset that
was separately depreciated and is now written off is replaced and it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, the expenditure is capitalised. Where part
of the asset replaced was not separately considered as a component and therefore not depreciated
separately, the replacement value is used to estimate the carrying amount of the replaced asset(s)
and is immediately written off. Inspection costs associated with major maintenance programmes
are capifalised and amortised over the period to the next inspection. All other day-to-day repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation / amortisation

The net book value of producing assets are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis over the total
proven and probable reserves of the field concerned, except in the case of assets whose useful life is
shorter than the lifetime of the field, in which case the straight-line method is applied. The total
proven and probable reserves of the field are reviewed at least annually. The unit-of-production rate
calculation fakes into account expenditures incuired to date, together with sanctioned and projected
future development expenditure.

Other property, plant and equipment are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, and major inspection costs are amortised over three to five years, which
represents the estimated period before the next planned major inspection. Property, plant and
equipment held under finance/capital leases are depreciated over the shorter of lease term and
estimated useful life.

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation /
depletion and impairnment losses.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposat or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation/amortisation are reviewed at
each reporting period and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

The consideration receivable on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised
initialky at its fair value by the Group. However, if payment for the item is deferred, the consideration
received is recognised initially at the cash price equivalent. The difference between the nominal
amount of the consideration and the cash price equivalent is recognised as interest revenue.
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4.2

4.3

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation / amertisation (continued)

Any part of the consideration that is receivable in the form of cash is treated as a financial asset and
is accounted for at amortised cost, if it ineets the criteria of SPPI test.

The estimated useful lives for other assets are as follows:

Years
Buildings 5-30
Furniture and office equipment 2-15
Plant, equipment and vehicles 2-30

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.
Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses. When commissioned, capital
work-in-progress is transferred to the appropriate plant and equipment category and depreciated in
accordarice with depreciation policies of the Group.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisiion method except for transaction under
common control. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration
transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and inclhuded in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and labilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss s recognised in profit or loss. }t is then
considered in the determination of goodwill,

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised either in either profit or foss or as a change to OC1. Ifthe contingent
consideration is not within the scope, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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4.

4.3

4.4

Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill {(continued)

Goodwill s initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held,
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets
acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the
procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. [fthe re-assessment
still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration
transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After mitial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumutated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned
to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained,

Transactions under Conunon Control

The Group follows the predecessor accounting method when there is business combination under
common control, Moreover, the Group adopts retrospective presentation method as it both acquirer
and acquiree had always been combined or using the results from the date when either entity joined
the Group, where such a date is later.

Under predecessor accounting method, the acouirer continues to adopt the value of the assets and
{iabilities as per the book value in the acquired entity, even after transfer of sharcholding. Any excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests, and any previous interest held, over the book value of the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities asswned is transferred to other reserves in equiiy.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition, Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not
capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
expenditure is Incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assefs are assessed as either finite or indefinite.



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

24

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

4.

4.4

4.5

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

[utangible assefs (continued)

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment, whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period, Changes in the expected useful life or the expected
pattern of consumption of fufure economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful {ives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually,
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable, If not, the change in
useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecogaition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Technology, customer relationship and frademarks

As part of the purchase price allocation performed by the Group on the acquisition of QQ Chemicals,
the Group had identified and recorded intangible assets relating to trademarks, customer relationships
and technology (refer to note 9).

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s major intangible asset classes are as follows;

Trademarks  Customer relationships Technology

Useful lives Indefinite Finite (10 years) Finite (10 — 20) years
Amortisation methed used No amortisation Amortised on a sfraight  Amortised on a

line basis straight line basis
Internally generated or acquired Acquired Acquired Acquired
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs comprise purchase cost and
where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less all estimated costs to be incurred in selling. Work in progress on long term contracts is
calculated at cost plus attributable profit, to the extent that this is reasonably certain after making
provision for contingencies, less any losses foreseen in bringing contracts to completion and less
amounts received and receivable as progress payments. Cost for this purpose includes direct labour,
direct expenses and an appropriate allocation of overheads. The cost of the inventory is determined
using FIFO method.
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4.5

4.6

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

inventories (continued)

The vahuation approach for OQT inventory is based on OQT’s specific activities in relation to each
product, Physical commodities principally acquired for the purpose of selling in the near future and
generating a profit from fluctuations in price or broker-traders’ margin are held at fair value less costs
to sell. These commodities include crude oil, refined products, petrochemicals and liquefied natural
gas. Movements in the fair value of inventory between reporting dates are directly recognised in cost
of sates. The fair value is measured with reference to observable market prices.

Employees’ end-of-service benefits

The Group’s obligation for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense when due, The Group’s obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have sarned in
return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its
present value.

Group entities registered in Oman make payment to the Omant Government Social Security scheme
under Royal Decree 72/91 for Omani employees, calculated as a percentage of the employees’

salary. The Group’s obligations are Himited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

The Group entities operating in Oman also provide end-of-service benefits to its Omani and
expatriate employees. End-of-service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of
employment of the Group's employees at the reporting date, having regard to the requirements of
the Oman Labour Law 2003 and its amendments subject to the completion of & minimum service
period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. Employes
entitflements to annual leave and leave passage are recognised when they accrue to employees and
an accrual is made for the estimated lability arising as a resuit of services rendered by employees
up to the reporting date. These accruals are included in current tabilities, while that refating to end
of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current lability,

Liabilities for defined benefit plans for OQ Chemicals are measured using the projected unit credit
method, taking into account not only the pension obligations and vested pension rights known at the
reporting date, but also expected future salary and benefit increases. Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience-based adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Service costs are classified as administrative expenses. Interest costs are
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The amounts payabie under defined
contribution plans are expensed when the contributions are due and classified as administrative
expenses. Past service costs are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, regardless of vesting requirements. For funded plans, OQ Chemicals offsets
the fair value of the plan assets with the benefit obiigation.

Remeasurements in the net defined benefit liability comprising actuarial gains and losses, the return
on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are
recognized immediately in OCL
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4.6

4.7

4.3

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Employees® end-of-service benefits

These defined benefit plans expose OQ Chermicals to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency
risk and interest rate risk. For funded plans, OQ Chemicals offsets the fair value of the plan assets with

the benefit obligation.
Foreign eurrency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Rial Omani at exchange rates ruling at the value
dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies (including monetary assets and
liabilities considered as a net investient in foreign operation) are translated into Rial Omani at
exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the
difference between amortised costs in the Rial Omani af the beginning of the period, adjusted for
effective interest and payments during the period and the amortised costs in foreign currency translated
at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settiement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and
qualifying net investment hedges.

Non-monetary assets and Habilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair vaiue
are translated to Rial Omani at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit ot loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Rial Omani at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for
consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income, On disposal of a foreign entity, the
deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity velating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the profit or loss. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at closing rate.

Leases
Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases {defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of fow value assets.
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4.8

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee {continued)

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease lability comprise:

¢ fixed lease payviments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or
rate al the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an
option to terminate the lease

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the canying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made,

The Group re-measures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever:

e The lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using 4 revised discount rate.

e  The lease payments change due fo changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease Hability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments
change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revise discount rate s used).
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

o A lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease,
inn which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate,

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a tease transfer’s ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-
use of asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use of assets are presented as a separate tine in the statement of financial position. The
Group applies TAS36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for an
identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, plant and equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease lability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the
line ‘Other expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss. As a practical expedient, IFRS16 permits a
lessee not {o separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and associated non-
lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient.

Group as a lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two
separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
oftuse asset arising from the head lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group net investment in the leases.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a Iessor (continued)

Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate
consideration under the contract to each component.

4.9 Concession arrangement

Infrastructure

As disclosed in note 13, the Group has applied IFRIC 12 in refation to the Concession Agreement
with the Government of Sultanate of Oman.

Infrastructures within the scope of the IFRIC 12 are not recognized as property, plant and equipment
of the Group. Under the terms of the Concession Agreement the Group acts as an operator. The
Group constructs or upgrades infrastruciure (construction or upgrade services) used to provide a
public service and operates and maintains that infrastructure (operation services) for a specified
period of time.

In accordance with the requirements of the IFRIC {2 a financial asset has been recognised where
the Group constructs or upgrades the infrastructure and is permitted to operate it over the concession
period for an agreed revenue to be received during the period of operation. This financial asset covers
the costs incurred in relation to the construction of the Gas Transmission Network,

In the financial asset model, the amount due from the Government or the shipper meets the definition
of a financial asset which is accounted for in line with the accounting policies stated below relating
to the financial assets,

The Group recognizes and measures revenue in accordance with IFRS |5 for the services it performs.

Revenue and costs relating to the construction or upgrade are being recognised in income over the
construction phase of the arrangement in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. Therefore, subject to the requirements of
IFRS 15, revenue is being recogiised by reference to the stage of completion of the construction
project. Contract revenue is the fair value of the amount due from the Govermment for the
construction activity. The construction revenue recognised to date is recognised as a contract asset.
Accounting policy details are stated below in the revenue recognition section.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

In the normal course of business the Group uses financial instruments, principally investments in
equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, terin deposits, loans and
borrowings, trade and other payables and derivatives.

4.10.1 Classification

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets as follows:

e Financial agsets at amortised cost

e Financial assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)
¢  Financial assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)

To determine their classification and measurement category, all financial assets, except equity
instruments and derivatives, is assessed based on a combination of the entity’s business model for
managing the assets and the instruments” contractual cash flow characteristics.

The derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard
are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.

Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of
financial assets to achieve its business objective. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and
cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these are applicable (e.g. financial assets are
held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of *Sell” business model,
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking "worst
case’ or 'stress case’ scenarios into account.

Contractual cash flow characteristics test

The Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent Solely for Payments of
Principal and Interest (the *SPPI’). The most significant elements of interest within a lending
arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk,

The Group reclassifies a financial asset only when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the
change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent.
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4.10

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4,10.1 Classification (continued)

Financial labilities

All financial liabilities are classified as “amortised cost™ other than negative fair value of derivatives
which are carried at “fair value through profit or loss™.

4.16.2 Recognition / derecognition

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrament.

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognized when the confractual rights to receive cash
flows from the financial asset has expired or the Group has transferred substantiatly all risks and
rewards of ownership and has not retained control. If the Group has retained control, it continues to
recognize the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the financial asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, canceiled
or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liabiity and recognition of a
new liability. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

All regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized using settlement date
accounting. Changes in fair value between the trade date and settlement date are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss or in the statement of comprehensive income in accordance with the policy
applicable to the related instrument. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by
regilations or conventions in the market place.

4.10.3 Measurement

All financial assets or financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue are added except for those financial instruments
classified as “at fair value through profit or loss™
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4.10

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments {continued)

4,10.4  Measurement (continued)

Financial assets at FYOCI

A debt instriment is measured at FVOCI if it satisfies the SPPI test and is heid within a business
model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and to sell. These assets are
subsequently measured at fair value, with change in fair value recognized in OCI. laterest income
calculated using effective interest method, foreign exchange gains/losses and Impairment are
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. On de-recognition, gains and losses
accumulated in the OCI are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit and foss.

For an equity instrument; upon initial recognition, the Group may elect to classify irrevocably some
of its equity investments as equily instruments at FVOCT when they meet the definition of equity
under [AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classtfication
is determined on an instrument-by~ instriment basis. Gains and losses on these equity instruments
are never recycled to consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right to receive has been established, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which
case, such gains are recorded in OCL. Equity instruments at FVOUCI are not subject to an impairment
assessment. Upon disposal cumulative gains or losses may be reclassified from fair value reserve to
retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Financial asset af FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FYOCI are measured at FVTPL.
This also includes equity instruments held-for-trading and are recorded and measured in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value.

Changes in fair values and dividend income are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to receive has been established.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial iability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative, or it is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial labilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains
and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit ot loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continned)
Financial instruments {continued)

4.16.3  Measurement (continued)

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount initially recognized less
any cumulative amortization and the best estimate of the present value of the amount required to
settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.

4104  Fmpairment

Group recognizes ECL for cash and bank balances, due from related parties, contract assets and
other assets using the general approach and uses the simplified approach for trade receivables as
allowed by IFRS 9.

General approach

The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring ECL. Assets migrate through the three stages
based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition. Financial assets with significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but not credit impaired, are transitioned to stage 2
from stage 1 and ECL is recognized based on the probability of default (PD) of the counter party
occurring over the fife of the asset. All other financial assets are considered to be in stage 1 unless it
is credit impaired and an ECL is recognized based on the PD of the customer within next 12 months.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking information. Financial assets are assessed as credit
impaired when there is a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset.

Simplified approach

The Group applies simplified approach to measuring credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected
toss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit Josses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

4.10.5 Measurement

ECL is the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and
Loss Given Default (LGD). The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial
obligation, either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD)
of the obligation. EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
4.10.5 Measurement (continued)

The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the financial instroments and potential
changes to the current amounts allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD of a
financial asset is its gross carrying amow, The LGD represents expected loss conditional on default,
its expected value when realised and the time value of money.

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the
fotlowing criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from extemnal sources indicates that the debtor is
uniikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
colateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group incorporates forward-looking information based on expected changes in macro-
gconomic factors in assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly
sinee its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL

4.10.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group enters into a derivative financial instrument to manage its exposure to interest rate and
commodity price due to market fluctuation. Further details of derivative financial instruments are
disclosed in note 21.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.

The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive falr value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial
statements unless the Group has both legal right and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity
of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12
months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (confinued)
Financial instruments (continued)
4.10.6  Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Hedge accounting

The Group designates derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of interest rate risk in cash flow
hedges and commodity price due to market fluctuation,

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group entity documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy
for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, the Group entity documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when
the hedging relationships meet alf of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

o there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

e the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship; and

= the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Company actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the Company actally uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge
ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same,
the Group entity adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so
that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

Note 21 sefs out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.
Movements in the hedging reserve in equity are detailed in note 26.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued})

4.310 Financial instruments (continued)

4.10.6  Derivative financial instraments and hedging activities (continued)
Hedge accounting {continued)
Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging
instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of Cumulative changes in fair values, limited to the
cuamulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is included in the
“other gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss in the perfods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same
line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast transaction resuits in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial Hability.

This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Company expects that
some or all of the loss acciumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the
future, that amount is immediately reclassified {o profit or loss.

The Group entity discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship {or a part
thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes
instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The
discontinuation is accounted for prospectively.

Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow hedge
reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction
occurs. When a forecast transaction is no fonger expected to occur, the gain or loss accumuiated in
cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or loss.

Cost of hedging reserve

The cost of hedging reserve reflects gain or loss on the portion excluded from the designated hedging
instrument that relates to the forward element of forward contracts. It is initially recognised i QCI
and accounted for similarly to gains or losses in the hedging reserve.

4.10.7 Offsefting financial assets and financial Habilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and reported on a net basis in the accompanying
consolidated statement of financial position when a legally enforceable right to set off such amounts
exists and when the Group intends to settle on a net basis or {o realise the assets and settle the
labilities simultaneously.
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4,11

Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. if any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverabie amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount,

In assessing value in use, the estimated fiure cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a post-tax discount rate that reflects corrent market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair vahue less costs of disposal, recent market transactions
are taken into account. If no such fransactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly
traded companies or other available fair value indicators,

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are
prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These
budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-
term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. Impairment
losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in the stafement
of profit or loss in expense cafegories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for
properties previously revalued with the revaluation taken to OCL For such properties, the
mmpairment is recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased.
If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal
is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
beer recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be tmpaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amout of
each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. hpairment losses refating
to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Intangible assets with indefinite usefir] lives are tested for impairment annuaily at the CGU level, as
appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
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4.12

4.13

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and # is probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The unwinding of this discounting is recognised as finance cost.

Amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date, faking info account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

The Group records a provision for site restoration mainly relating to oil wells and fuel stations. Site
restoration costs are provided for at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using
estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of the cost of the relevant asset. The cash flows are
discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the site restoration Hability. The
unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in the statement of profit or loss
as a finance cost. The estimated futire costs and discount rates of site restoration are reviewed
annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs, or in the discount rate
applied, are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset.

Fair values

A number ofthe Group’s accounting policies and discloswres require the determination of fair value,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on a number of accounting policies and methods.

Where applicable, information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed
in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

Fair value is the price that would be received to self an asset or paid fo transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction befween market participants af the measurement date, The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the Hability
takes place either:

e In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

¢ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or lability
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a lability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market patticipant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.13 Fair values (continued)

4.14

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

¢ Level | - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

o [Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

e Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest tevel input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities
which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this
analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the
information in the valuation computation fo contracts and other relevant documents,

Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers™ outlines a single comprehensive model of
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers.

The core principle of IFRS 135 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods and services to customners in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled for those goods and services.

The process for applying the standard is separated into five steps:

s Step 1 — Identify the contract with & customer

e Step 2 — Identify the separate performance obligations in the contract

¢  Step 3 — Determine the transaction price

e Step 4 — Allocate the transaction price to the separate performance obligations in the contract

e Step 5 — Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation
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Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

4.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognises revenue over time il any one of the following criteria is met:

e The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs; or

e The Group 's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

e The Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance oblgation completed to date.

For performance obligations where none of the above conditions are met, revenue is recognised at
the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied.

Revemte comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services
rendered in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is recognised oniy when it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with a transaction will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably and is stated net of sales taxes if applicable (such as
YAT) and discounts. If advances are received from customers for future coniractual services, the
revenue is deferred until the services are provided.

Where revenue contains a significant financing element, the financing element is shown as a
financing item and revenues are adjusted by a corresponding amount,

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The Company considers the terms of the contracts with customers and the
Price Control Maximum Allowed Revenue for the relevant period as approved by the Regulatory
Asset Base (“RAB™) Joint Management Committee fo determine the fransaction price.

Revenue from sale of oil and gas

The Group has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements, since it is the
primary obligor, and is also exposed to the risk of loss of inventory except in the case of Gas
Purchase and Sale agreement with Dolphin Energy.

Revenue from the sale of oil and petroleum products is recognised when the control over the goods
or services passed on to the customer.

Revenue for under-/over lifting is recognised based on the actual amount of ol and gas sold
regardless of the amount of oil and gas production entitied to the Group accordinging to the working
interest. Under-/over lfting balances are accounted for by non-financial receivables/(liabilities),
respectively and corresponding adjustment of production/operating cosfs.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4,14 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from rendering services

Revenue from rendering services is recognised as the services are rendered, including where they
are based on contractual daily rates for providing messing services which include catering services.

Revenue from services is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Revenue from Oil field services

Revenue from the oil field services are recognised when the control of services passed on to the
customer. The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits or performance creates,
enhances an asset that the customer controls and recognizes revenue over time.,

Revenue from services rendered overtime is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed based on
output method. Stage of completion is assessed by reference to billing sheets prepared by the Group
and approved by customers, based on the applicable day rates.

Mobiiisation revenue net of delayed stariup penalty, if any, for newly commissioned capital assets
are recognised over the firm contract period. Mobilisation costs that are expected to be recovered
are capitalized and amortised over the firm contract period.

Concession income

The Group recognises finance income on concession receivable and contract assets based on
effective interest rate method.

Construction revenue

The Group upgrades or constructs the Gas Transmission Infrastructure (the “Infrastructure™) under
the Concession Agreement. Under the terins of the Concession Agreement, the infrastructure can
only be used by the Shipper and OQ GN has an enforceable right to payment for work done. Revenue
from upgrade or construction of the Infrastructure is therefore recognised over time on a surveys of
performance completed 1o date or milestones reached.

The Group consider that this output method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under IFRS 15. Construction revenue is the
fair value of the amount due from the Government for the construction activity. The construction
revenue recognised to date is recognised as a contract asset. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice the Shipper for construction of the infrastructure when the
infrastructure asset is commissioned. Under the Concession Agreement and RAB Rules, the
Company invoices the Shipper for the revenue ailowed under the RAB rules.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition {continued)
Concession income (continued)

Construction revenue (continued)

The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether a contract contains a
financing component and whether that financing component is significant to the contract. In
determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the
effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the contract
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer.

Expenditures are determined and allowed under the price control with no ex-post adjustinent (except
for specific events / triggers),

Pass through costs

Pass through cost represents taxation, fuel gas and regulator fees which are refmbursable on actual
incurred basis.

Revenue from power generation

Revenue from power generation comprises tariffs for power capacity, electrical energy and fuel
charges. Tariffs are calculated in accordance with the power purchase agreement entered with Oman
Water and Power Procurement Company SAQC,

Capacity charge represents amounts payable to the Group for each hour during which the plant is
available for power generation. Capacity charges income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Energy charge revenue which compensates the Group for the fuel and variable cost
of power is recognised based on the supply of generated power.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises foreign exchange gains and inferest income. Interest income is recognised
as the interest accrues using the effective interest rate method, under which the rate used exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset at the reporting date,

Finance income comprises foreign exchange gains and interest income. Interest income is recognised
as the interest accrues using the effective interest rate method, under which the rate used exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset at the reporting date.
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4.15

4.16

4,17

4.18

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Finance income and expenses (continued)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are added to the
cost of the respective assets. Interest revenue earned on deposits of borrowed funds is netted off
against the cost of the borrowed funds added to the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Investment income

Investment income comprises dividend income, gains and losses on sale of investments and fair
value changes on investments held at fair value through profit and loss and held for trading. Dividend
income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established.

Inceme tax

Inconte tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is provided based on relevant laws
of the respective countries in which the Group operates. Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date
and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Income tfax is recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity., Deferred tax assets/liabilities are
calculated using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted oy substantively enacted at the
reporting date. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets/liabilities is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no fonger probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Income tax on subsidiaries, associates and joinf ventures

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting perfod i the countries where the Group entity or an associate or a
joint venture operates and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generates taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)
Direetors’ remuneration

The board of directors’ remuneration is accrued within the limits and the requirements of the
Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman.

Dividend on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are
approved by the Parent’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are paid.

Dividends for the year that are approved afier the reporting date are dealt with as an event afler the
reporting date.

Carry of a partner

In the course of joint operations during exploration and appraisal stage one partner can fund {or carry)
the expenditures of another. The interest could be recognised on the funds borrowed which will be
capitalised in the main carry. The repayment of carry shall be recognised based on the agreed base
from future benefits flowing in from future sales of extracted hydrocarbons. If no commercial
discovery occurs, the carrier shall not recover the carry and the funded amount would be expensed in
the sare accounting period.

Transferred assets

Government assistance. For assistance provided by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman, an
assessment is made as to whether it is acting as a shareholder or as the Govermment. Assistance is
accounted for as a Government Grant or deemed equity contribution accordingly.

Transferred assets. Transferred assets are assets which are acquired by the Group either through
transfer from another entity, donation or for no consideration and no issue of shares. Transferred
assets are valued at fair value and classified according to the nature of the asset. Transferred assets
with a fair value of below a de minimums level are accounted for at nil. For assets or rights
transferred to the Group primarily due to Government ownership and without consideration, credit
relating to fair valuation (in line with Level 3 of fair value measurement) is maintained in a separate
reserve (“other reserve™).

Segmental reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses. All operating segment operating results are reviewed
regularly by the Group Chief Executive Officer (Chief Operating Decision Maker) to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete
financial information is avaiiable.

The Group’s operating segments are established on the basis of those components of the Group that
are evaluated regularty by the Group Chief Executive Officer (Chief Operating Decision Maker), in
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance,
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4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

4.27

Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Segmental reporting (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in this nofe, except that IFRS requires that the measure of profit or loss disclosed for each
operating segment is the measure that is provided regularly to the Chief Operating Decision Maker.
For further information see note 47.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings
per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own
shares held.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the profit and loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held- for
sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill,
and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assefs, employee benefit assets, investment properiy or
biolegical assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s other accounting
policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale or held-for distribution and
subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Parent Company’s shareholders is recognised as a Hability in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Parent Company’s shareholders.

Events after the reporting date

The Group consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the
reporting date and the date when the financial statements are authovised for issue, provided they give
evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date. Any post year-end events that are non-
adjusting are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements when material.
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reporied amounts

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and Habilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related

actual results.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognized in these consolidated financial statements:

Control over investments in subsidiaries

Management assesses whether or not the Group has control over its investment in subsidiaries based

on whether the Group has the power to direct the relevant activities of the investees unilateraily.

Management considers the Group’s absolute size of holding in subsidiaries and refative size of and
dispersion of the shareholding owned by the other sharcholders. After assessment, management
concluded that the Group has a sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities

of subsidiaries and therefore Group has contro! over investment in subsidiaries, refer note 2(jii).
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
{continued)

Concession arrangement

The analysis on whether the IFRIC 12 applies to an arrangement involves various factors and
depends on the interpretation of contractual arrangement. Therefore, the application of IFRIC 12
requires judgment in relation with, amongst other factors,

't the identification of certain infrastructures in the scope of IFRIC 12;

(ii} the understanding of the nature of the payments in order to deternine the classification of
the infrastructure as a financial asset or as an intangible asset; and

(i1}  the recognition of revenue from construction and concessionary activity.

Changes in one or more of the factors may affect the conclusions as to the appropriateness of the
application of IFRIC 12.

Management has evaluated the applicability of IFRIC 12 and concluded that the concession
agreement falls within the purview of the "financial assets" model as defined in 1FRIC 12, which
requires the Group to recognise revenue for the construction and operation phases in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards 15. Accordingly, the Group has applied 1FRIC 12 and
recognised a financial asset (concession receivables and contract asset) and financial income, If the
arrangement had not fallen under IFRIC 12, the Group would have recorded property, plant and
equipment and revenue caleulated under the RAB rules.

Contract claims

Contract claims are recognised as revenue only to the extent that it is probable that they will not
result in a significant reversal of revenue in subsequent periods. Management reviews the judgment
related to these contract claims periodically, and adjustments are made in the future periods, if
assessients indicates that such adjustrnents are appropriate.
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
{continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the
financial position reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and Habilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment of oil producing assets & gas properties and other property, plant and equipment
Carrying value of oil & gas properties and other property, plant and equipment

Management performs impainment reviews on the Group’s oil & gas properties and other property,
plant and equipment assets at feast annually with reference to indicators in IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets, Where indicators are present and an impairment test is required, the calculation of the
recoverable amount requires estimation of future cash flows within complex impairment models.
Key assumptions and estimates in the impairment models relate to: commodity prices and the long-
term corporate economic assumptions thereafler, discount rates that are adjusted to reflect risks
specific to individual assets, oif and gas reserves and the related cost profiles. Assumptions reflect
all ol and gas reserves that a market participant would consider when valuing the asset. Judgment
is also required in establishing the appropriate grouping of assets into cash generating units.

Reserves estimates used in the calculation of Depreciation, Depletion and Amortisation (DD&A)
and impairment of oil & gas properties and other property, plant and equipment

The determination of the Group’s oil and gas reserves requires significant judgement and estimates
to be applied. These are regularly reviewed and updated. Proven and probable reserves are estimates
of the amount of oil and gas that can be economically extracted from the Group’s oil and gas assets.
The Group estimates its reserves using standard recognised evaluation techniques applied by the in-
house reserve engineer.
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Critical accounting judgements and Kkey sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Useful lives of oil producing assets & gas properties and other property, plant and equipment

Further, these reserve estimates are evaluated by external reserve engineers every three year. Proven
and probable reserves are determined using estimates of oil and gas in place, recovery factors and
future commodity prices, the latter having an impact on the total amount of recoverable reserves and
the proportion of the gross reserves which are attributable to the government under the terms of the
Exploration and Production Sharing Contracts.

Future development costs are estimated taking into account the level of development required to
produce the reserves by reference to operators, where appiicable, and internai engineers.

Estimates of oil and gas reserves are used to calculate depreciation, depletion and amortisation
charges for oil and gas properties. The impact of changes in oil and gas reserves is dealt with
prospectively. Oil and gas reserves also have a direct impact on the assessment of recoverability of
asset carrying values. If oil and gas reserves are revised downwards, earnings could be affected by
changes in depreciation expense or by immediate write-downs of asset carrying values,

Useful life of intangible assets

Ainortisation is charged so as to write off the cost of the intangible assets over their estimated useful
lives. The calculation of useful lives is based on management’s assessment of various factors such
as:

e Expected usage of the assets by the Group;

e Typical product life cycle for the asset and public information on estimates of useful lives of
similar type of assets used in similar way;

e Technical, technological, commercial or other types of obsolescence and the period of control
over the assefs.

e Legal or similar limits on the use of the asset, such as the expiry dates of refated leases.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives. The
calculation of useful lives is based on management’s assessment of various factors such as the

operating cycles, the maintenance programs, and normal wear and tear using its best estimates. Refer
note 4.2 for details.
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5. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment loss on investments in associates and joinf ventures

The Group reviews its investments in associates and joint ventures periodically and evaluaies the
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence includes the performance of associate, the
future business model, local economic conditions and other relevant factors. Based on the objective
evidences, the Group determines the need for impairment loss on investments in associates and joint
ventures. Refer notes 11 and 12 for details.

Income tax

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of tax regulations and the amount and timing of
future taxable income. Given the wide range of business relationships and nature of existing
contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or
future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense
already recorded.

The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of
finalisation of tax assessments of the Group. The amount of such provisions is based on various
factors, such as experience of previous tax assessments and differing interpretations of tax
regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Refer note 41 for details.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. Refer note 41 for details.

Percentage of completion method
The Group uses the output method to recognise revenue on the basis of Group’s efforts or inputs to

the satisfaction of a performance obligation in accounting for its construction contracts. This is done
by measuring surveys of performance completed to date or milestones reached.
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5. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
{continued)

At each reporting date, the Group is required to estimate stage of completion, Effects of any revision
to these estimates are reflected in the year in which the estimates are revised. When it is probable
that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the total expected loss is recognised
immediately, as soon as foreseen, whether or not work has commenced on these contracts.

The Group uses its project managers to measure the surveys of performance completed to date or
milestones reached. Factors such as delays in expected completion date, changes in the scope of
work, changes in material prices, increase in labour and other costs are included in the construction
cost estimates based on best estimates updated on a regular basis.

Valuation of unguoted invesitments

Valuation of unguoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following:

e  Recent arm’s length market transactions;

e  Current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same;

e The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and
risk characteristics; and

e  Other valuation models

Refer note 16 for details.

Accounting for commodify purchase and sale contracts

At inception, physical commeodity purchase and sales transactions which support Group entity’s
(OQTs) principal activities which are capable of net settfement and are not entered into {or continue
to be held) for the purpose of receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with Group
entity’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements fall within the scope of IFRS 9.

Certain physical commodity contracts do not fall within the scope of IFRS 9. These contracts are
accounted for as executory contracts. Revenue from the sale of goods and provision of services under
these contracts is recognised on an accrual basis as the resources are delivered or the services are
provided. The related purchase costs are recognised on an accrual basis within cost of sales. Refer
note 21 for details.
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5. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
{confinued)

Umpairment of property, plant and equipment

A decline in the value of property, plant and equipment could have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements. Management assesses the impairment of property
and equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. Refer note 6 for further details.

Expected credit loss allowance

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information,
which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these
drivers will affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account
cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calenlation of which includes historical
data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

Judgements are required in assessing the recoverability of overdue trade receivables and lease
receivables and defermining whether a provision against those receivables is required. Factors
considered include the creditworthiness of the counterparty, timing and value of anticipated future
payments and actions that can be taken to mitigate the risk of non-payment.
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6.  Property, plant and equipment

Fre"iiﬂ';]: Buitdings E:;"t:;:":;: equipnltnptl.::ii' resturaﬁ:: C‘:s::: \\S:E::] Total
eguipment vehicies cost ‘Ilﬂf‘ progress
ROM000 RO'000 RO'000 ROW0 RO7080 S RO00 RO080

Cost
AL January 2019 188 377451 a3.239 4058 860 47,937 6,196 2004487 6,620,707
Additions - 1439 10968 15,592 19.711 - 686,696 734,306
Transfers - {2,662) 1.364 (20,64%) ) : (61,441 (83,387
Adjustment . . . . 7937 - - (47,937
Disposals - 1) (747 {i 1,648 ) ) {20236} (33.263)
Teanslation differences - (L576) (123} (7.599) " " (170 £9.569)
A3l December 2018 158 374,034 56,620 4,024,368 10751 6,198 2699,316 7150857
At | January 2006 408 374,038 56,620 4,024,568 19,711 6,596 2,699,3L6 7,480,857
Additions - 933 865 30,923 - A86 F57,605 456,902
Transfers - 2,208 1.022) 38,300 N - 154,149) {8,663}
Dilution of subsidiaey - - - 222y . - 194,769} (94,95])
Disposals - (2,391} {1,169} {28,541} . n - 131,108)
Transtation differences - 6,291 483 27,950 - ) 1,721 35444
At 31 December 2020 108 388,069 5,771 4,092,975 19,711 677 3,009,724 1573492
Actumulated depreciation and impaizment
At 1 January 2019 - 199 494 35.602 1,620,394 13,381 4,381 10336 1,703 688
Charge for the year - 13,404 A237 182781 3114 h - 264,438
Transfors - (437 (133} (4.895) - - ) (5.66%)
Impaisment charge - - - 33,743 i - 22,569 56,522
Disposals - (196} {61%) (8,381} N ° {11873 (10.379)
Adjustment . . . - £17,505) - - (17,495
TFranstation differences - (233) - (2.245) - (2.478)
A3 Decenber 2019 . 120652 39,091 1,822,127 - 4381 31,738 2018368
AT January 2010 - 121,032 39,091 1822127 . 4,351 31,738 2,018,369
Charge for the year - 12,809 $417 165,063 ) 726 ) 186,015
Transfers - - 631) (168} - - ° (799}
Impairment charge - - - - - - 1,138,859 $.138,839
Bilatiosn of subsidiary - - - {195) - - ° {195)
Disposals " (762) 1,037 125,513} " B - (27,6123
Franslatios differences - 1377 09 13,245 - - - 15,032
At 3 December 2020 - 134,456 42,249 1,977,260 ' 5,107 1,170,397 3,329,669
Net Book Value
H-Dec-20 408 253413 13528 1,115,718 19,714 1,668 1,839,137 4,243,773
D19 468 253006 17523 2,202 411 19711 1813 2661574 5,162,358
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(i)  Break up of impairment charge for the year:
2026 2019

RO’000 RO000

OQ RPI (i) 1,138,859 32,734
Ormian 01l Marketing Company SAQG - 1,019
Oman International Petrochemical Industries Company LLC - 22,569
Nef tmpairment charge 1,138,859 56,322

(ii}  Impairment assessment of OQ RPI

During the current year, the Group entity, OQ RPI has carried out an impairment analysis at CGU
tevel of OQ Aromatics LLC (Aromatics), OQ Plastics LI.C (Plastics) and OQ Refineries LLC
{Refmmeries) plant and equipment due the instability in the commodities, products and financial
markets, following the COVID pandemic, the Oil price war and the associated unprecedented world
ECOTONC CFiSIS.

For the purpose of impairment analysis, the Group used the base case model and the following key
assumptions were used in the base case model:

Valuation techrnique

Discounted cash flows: The valuation model considers the present value of net cash flows to be
generated from the respective Cash Generating Units (CGUs), taking into account the expected
production rate, demand, maximun capacity of plants, and shutdown period.

Projection period and discount rate

Value in use cash flows have been discounted by applying a post-tax discount rate of 8.09% (2019:
8-10%) for the period from FY21 to the end of the useful life of the underlying assets. The fittire
cash flows are based projected taking into account the forecasted margins/spreads derived from
primary market advisors’ forward projections, updated at the latest available date. These were
compared, for analytical purposes, with prices resulting from the application of the same
methodology during the preparation of a 5-year business plan of Aromatics, Plastics and Refineries,
extrapelated until the end of the useful lives of the underlying assets.

Inflation

The value in use considers an inflation rate of 2%-3% (2019: 2%-3%) over the life of the
underlying assets being assessed.

The impairment analysis has resulted in an impairment in Plastics of RO 1,138 million (USD 2,957
million) (2019: RO nil), RO nil in Aromatics (2019: 32.73 mitlion (USD &5 millicn)) and RO wil for
Refineries {2019: RO nil),
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6.
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v

Property, plant and equipment {continued)
Impairment assessment of OQ RPI (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Ly

For the Group entities subjected to impaiment analysis and resulting in impairment expense, in the
assessment of VIU for the CGU’s, management believes that any reasonably possible adverse change
in any of the above key assumptions that would cause the carrying value of the CGU to further reduce

its recoverable amount.

For the Group entities subjected to impairment analysis but did not incur an impairment charge in

2020 the sensitivity analysis is as follows:
The Aromatics VIU will reduce to match its carrying amount of assets if:
«  Discount rate increascs by 8.49%, keeping all other variables stable
¢ Inflation decrease by 6%, keeping all other variables stable
¢ Oil and gas prices decrease by 1%, keeping all other variables stable
The Refineries VIU will reduce to match its carrying amount of assets if:
¢ Discount rate increases by 18.69%, keeping all other variables stable
s Inflation decrease by 18%, keeping all other variables stable

s Qil and gas prices decrease by 33%, keeping all other variables stable

Capital work-in-progress pertains to the following subsidiaries net of impairment:

L

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’ 000

0Q Refineries and Petroleum Industries L.L.C 1,287,338 2,152,216
Oman Ol facilities development Company 274,439 330,318
OQ Methano{SFZ) L.L.C. 140,923 122,085
Oman Tank Terminal Company LLC 80,174 25,427
OOC Holding Europe BV 29,538 20,099
OQ Exploration and Production L.L.C. 11,162 10,632
Oman Oil Marketing Company SAOG 13,195 5,291
Takamul Investment Company SAOC 2,361 1,456
Takatuf Oman LLC - 54
1,839,127 2,667,578

At 31 December 2020, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of RO 4,241.42 million
(2019: RO 5,085.87 million) were mortgaged as security for bank borrowings (refer note 27).

During the year, the Group has recognised finance cost of RO 83.76 million (2019: 89.07 million) in

the cost of the capital-work-in-progress of qualifying assets.
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6. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(vi) The depreciation and amortization charges for the year are as follows;

Total depreciation and amortization charge for the year is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets {note 9)

0il and gas producing assets (note 7)
Right-of-use assets (note 8)

Analysed as follows:
Cost of sales (note 34)
General and administration expenses (38)

Capitalised in the cost of capital work in progress

7. Oil and gas production and development assefs

56

2620 2019
RO*000 RO000
186,015 204,456
22,834 19,621
258,806 260,490
33,110 26,139
500,765 510,706
450,279 475,168
47,821 32,441
2,665 3,097
500,765 510,706

The details of the Group’s share of oil exploration and production and development assets as of

31 December is as follows;

Cost

At 1 January 2019

Additions during the vear

Change ir decomnyissioning provision
Transfers

At 1 Jaguary 2020

Additions during the year
Change in decomntissioning provision
Transfers

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
Tmpaiment (iv}
At | January 2020

Charge for the year
Transfers

fupamment (1v)

At 31 Decenbar 2020

Net book value
At 31 December 2620

At 31 December 2019

OQEP

{Mukhaizna Oit feld ,Abu Duaga o}

Tubud, Malarim Block ¢ figld
eic.) Total

(0] (i}
RO RO080 RO600
2,412,960 36,548 2,445 508
307488 3,201 310,689
3436 - 3438
(639} (639)
2723245 39,749 2,762,994
289,229 2,072 282,361
(8,177) 8,077
1,766 - 1,766
2,997,063 41,821 3,038,884
1,305,332 27,202 1.332534
260,460 - 260,490
{43974 - (43,974}
§.521,848 272062 1,549,030
256,433 2,353 258,806
2448 B 2,448
152,534 - 132,534
1,933,283 29,555 1,962,338
1,063,780 12,266 1,076,046
1,201,397 12,547 1,213,944
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7. Oil and gas production and development assets {continued)

()

(i)

(iii)

Note 2 gives details of Group’s participating interest in different oil and gas exploration and
production sharing agreements in Oman. Oil and gas production and development assets include RO
103.041 million in respect of the fair value recognised on transfer of 45% interest in Block 9 from
the Government of Oman (the *State”) at nil consideration. The fair value was determined based on
considerations paid by two non-related parties to the State for renewal of their interest in Block 9
{Level 3). As the Group is ultimately owned by the Ministry of Finance of the Sultanate of Oman,
the related fair value adjustiments arising from the transfer was recorded in the statement of changes

in equity,

The Group has a 20% interest in the exploration rights and license for exploring for oil in an oilfield
concession located in Dunga, Kazakhstan, O0CL, a 100% subsidiary of the Group, has entered into
a joint operating agreement with Partex (Kazakhstan) Limited and Maersk Oil, wherein Maersk Oil
is the operator of the project.

impairment (note 39)

2020 2019

RO000 ROG00

Block 53 62,001 15,427
Block 9 {1,891} 2,213
Block 60 92,424 (61.614)
Total impairment charge — net of reversals 152,534 (43,974)

During the year, the Group’s management carried out impairment analysis for assets where
indicators of impairment, or reversal of impairment, are present. lmpairment reversals and charges
were mainly due to the fluctuations in the expected future commodity prices and development plans
at the reporting dates.

The recoverable amount for oil and gas assets is based on their fair value less costs of disposal
{*FVLCD®) or Value in Use (*VIU"). Where a market transaction reference case is not available,
VIU is determined using appropriate discounted cash How valuation models, incorporating market-
based assumptions. The key assumptions for the oil and gas assets VIU calculations are outlined
below together with the approach management has taken in determining the value to ascribe to each.
The valuation models are 1ife of asset models and therefore no extrapolation assumptions have been
necessary or applied. The VIU measurements were categorised as Level 3 fair values based on the
inputs to the valuation models.
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7. Qil and gas production and development assets (continued)

(tir)  Impairment (note 39) {Continued}

The calculation of VIU for oil and gas assets is based upon the following key assumptions:

o Reserves;
e Inflation rates;
= Commodity prices; and

e Discount rates.

Reserves

Reserves form the basis of the production profiles within the discounted cash flow models. Cash
flows were projected for each field based on the development plans approved by senior
management and reasonable assumptions that an external party would apply in appraising the
assets which, in some cases, may be broader in scope than Proved and Probable reserves.

Reserves are verified once in every three years by third party independent reserves valuation
experts as per the Group’s management policy. During the intermittent period, the management
adjusts the verified reserves for the actual production during the period.

Inflation rates

Estimates are obtained from published indices for the countries from which products and services
are originated, as well as data relating to specific commodities. Forecast figures are used if data is
publicly available. The inflation rate used for 2020 was 3% {2019 2%).

Commodity prices

To estimate future oil prices, the Group used Crude Oil Price forward curves and the relevant

inflation rate.
Quality differentials were applied on estimated Oman Crude prices to arrive at the estimated
Mukhaizna realized oil prices.

The gas price for Block 60, Block 9 and Block 61 are fixed in terms of the EPSA signed with
Ministry of Oil and Gas (MOG) and the underlying calculations and terms are considered.

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Oil price / bbl (USD) ] )
- 31 December 2620 N/A 3 o 49 S0 50
Oil price / bbi (USD) 58 56 62 63 66 N/A

31 December 2019
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7. Oil and gas preduction and development assets (continued)
(iliy  Impairment (note 39) {Continued}
Discount rates
Discount rates used reflect the estimated weighted average cost of capital rates specific to the CGU’s

from market participant’s perspective. The cash flows were discounted using a post-tax discount
rate of 6.67% (2019: 8.50%).

Sersitivity to changes in assumpltions

For the assets subjected to impairment analysis and incwred impairment foss/reversal during the
year, in the assessment of VIU for the CGUs, management believes that any reasonably possible
adverse change in any of the above key assumptions that would cause the carrying value of the
CGU to further reduce its recoverable amount,

For the assets subjected to impairment analysis but did not incur an impairment charge in 2020 the
sensitivity analysis is as follows:

Block 9°s VIU will reduce to match its carrying amount of assets if:

= Discount rate increases by 14.67%, keeping all other variables stable
o Oil price assumptions decreases by 4.4%, keeping all other variables stable

(iv)  At31 December 2020, oil and gas exploration and production and development assets with a carrying
amount of RO 14.69 million (2019: RO 27.79 million) were mortgaged as security for bank
borrowings (refer note 27).



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAQC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2020

8.

Right-of-use assets

60

The Group leases mainly comprise of leasehold lands, plant and machinery, equipment and vehicles.
Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below,

Amounts recognized in statement of financial position

Land and Plant and Drilling
buildings equipment and rigs Vehicles Total
RO™000 RO'600 RO'600 RO000 RO008
Cost
at 1 January 2019 101,848 93,841 1,580 5,370 202,639
Additions 9,475 - - - 9,475
Exchange difference 2 i72 - 2 176
Disposals / termination (57) (1414) - 37 {1,528)
At 31 December 2019 111,268 92,599 1,580 5,315 210,762
Additions 16,860 5,704 4,258 4,841 31,663
Exchange difference {136) (13) (540) &) (760}
Dilution of subsidiary {1,853) ~ - - {1,853)
Disposals / termination (1,233) (1,767) (878) (1,484) (5,362)
31 Pecember 2020 124,9{}6 95,521 4,420 8,663 234,510
Accumulated depreciation
Charge for the year 8,265 16,633 - 1,241 26,139
At 31 December 2019 8,265 16,633 - 1241 26,139
Cha['ge for the vear 9,986 17,738 3,832 1,554 33,110
At 31 December 2020 18,251 34,371 3,832 2,798 59,249
Net book value
31 December 2020 106,655 62,150 588 5,868 175,261
31 December 2019 103,003 75,966 1.580 4,074 184,623
Amount recognised in consolidated statement of profit and less account
2020 2019
RO'G0D RO'00
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (33,036) (26,139}
Interest on lease liabilities (6,310) (9.110)
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities (892) (892)
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 1,017 28
Expenses relating to short-term leases (37,742) {46,643)
E_xpenses relating to low-value assets, excl. shori-term leases of low-vatue (880) (854)
assets
Amounts recognized in statement of cash flows
Total cash outflow for feases 22,974 31,477
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9.  Intangible assets
Technology,
cusiemer
relationship,
trademarks,
patents and Expleration
ather Exploratio assels -
ERPand Subseil intangible I Assels - Caspian off
saftware rights assefs GOEP shore Totat
, . .
RO RO ag ROYGO0 RO00O ROG00 RO000
W G D) {iv)
Caost
Ar] January 2019 10,630 1Al 261,599 1,714 75,072 350,526
Additions 3024 - 1,518 8,251 - 12,593
At 1 January 2020 13,754 1,411 263,117 9,965 75,872 363,419
Additions 1,280 - 5,749 5344 1,060 13,433
Translation difference - - 9,843 - - 9.843
At 31 December 2020 15,034 1411 278,109 15,309 76,232 386,695
Aecumulated amortization
At January 2019 8,519 935 102,776 . 75,172 187,403
Charge for the year 4152 12 15,357 . - 19621
Translation: differences . _ 3296 . . 1955
At 1 January 2020 12,671 1,048 121,429 . 73,072 200,320
Charge for the year 1418 112 20244 - 1,860 22,834
Linpzairment - ~ 40,903 . N 40,903
Af 31 December 2020 14,089 1,160 182,576 - 76,232 274,657
Net book vatlue
At 31 December 2020 945 235 95,133 15,309 5 112,638
At 31 December 2019 1083 163 141,658 9,965 : 153 690
(i) The Group has incurred expenditure to upgrade existing ERP sofiware. The intangible assets are

amortised over 3 years.
(ii) Subsoil rights relate to Dunga (OOCL) and Pear] (OPCL) oil fields.

{(ii)  During 2013, Majan Energy B.V., & wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company acquired
100% shareholding in OQ Chemicals.

Technology, customer relationship, trademarks, patents and other infangible assets
primarily represent intangible assets acquired through acquisition of OQ Chemicals which
includes patents and trademarks of RO 40.9 million (2019: RO 37.7 million), customer
refationship of RO 25.5 million (2019: RO 23.3 million) and Technology and other
infangible assets of RO 64.7 million (2019: RO 59.0 million). Useful life of intangible
assets range befween | to 20 years. None of Group’s intangible asset has indefinite useful
life, except patents and trademarks.
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9.

(iv)

10.

Intangible assets (continued)

During the financial year 2020, the Group rebranded its trademark to "OQ Chemicals”. With this name
change, an impairment trigger was activated, Based on 1AS 36 an asset that you still own, but no
longer use, shall be impaired against the highest of indirect realisable value. Currently, no negative
impact on the cash flows of OQ Chemicals Group attributable to the name change has been
established. However, the frademark "OXEA™ name is no longer used to generate income. The income
generator now is the "OQ" name.

As a result of the analysis, management has recognised an impairment charge of RO 40.9 million
(Euro 87.7 million) in the current year.

Located in the North Caspian Sea, the Caspian Offshore project is an exploration and production
sharing agreement between the Group, Kazakhstan’s National Oil Company, KazMunaiGaz, and
Shell International E&P. Signed in December 20035, with 20% ownership by Oman Pearls Company
Limited, a 100% subsidiary of the Group, 25% by KazMunaiGaz and 55% by Shell International
E&P. The production sharing agreement covers an 895sq km exploration license containing a group
of exploration prospects known as the “Pearls”. During 2017 and 2019 the assets pertaining to this
project have been fully impaired.

As at 31 December 2020 the relinquishment of the Pearls contact area was completed. The PSA
termination agreement related to the relinquishment was signed with an effective date of 31
December 2020.

Goodwill

Chemioy OOMCO Total
Cost RO’000 RO’000 RO'000

) (i)

At | January 2019 & 2020 320,890 3,683 324,573
At 31 December 2019 & 2020 320,890 3,683 324,573
Impairment and translation differences
At 1 January 2019 312,099 - 312,009
Transtation differences 146 - 146
At 1 January 2020 312,245 - 312,245
Translation differences (842) - (842)
AL 31 December 2026 311,403 - 311,403
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 9,487 3,683 13,170

At 31 December 2019 8,645 3,683 12,328
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10. Goodwill (continued)

(1)

(i)

During 2013, the Parent acquired 100% shareholding stake in OQ Chemicals for a total
consideration of RO 378 million (Euro 714 million) through its 100% subsidiary, Majan
Energy BV from Advent International. The Group, during 2013 had performed a purchase
price allocation exercise relating to its OQ Chemicals acquisition and accordingly
recorded goodwill and certain intangible assets amounting to RO 311.5 million and RO
264.5 million, respectively. The Group carried out an impairment analysis of its CGU in
0Q Chemicals, whose long-term projected cash flows and operating margin had decreased
due to multiple reasons including general market and industry downturn. Accordingly,
goodwill arising out of acquisition of OQ Chemicals has been fully impaired during 2013
and 2014.

The balance goodwill of RO 9.48 million represents the goodwill which arose on acquisition of OQ
Chemicals International GmbH by OQ Chemicals Gmbid in 2014. The impairment test resulted in no
impairment loss ont goodwill in current year.

The annual impairment testing took place in the fourth quarter of the year. The recoverable amount
has been detexmined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial
budgets approved by management and covering a five-year period. For the time period after the fifth
year, a terminal value was calculated using a forward projection from the last defailed planning year
as a perpetual annuity. Forecasting is built on past experience, current performance and management’s
expectations on the future development of individual parameters such as raw material and future selling
prices as weli as sales volumes and costs. Market assumptions regarding economic development and
market growth were made on the basis of external macroeconomic and industry-related conditions and
factors,

The value in use is caiculated by discounting the cash flows using a discount rate of 8.32% (2019:
9.52%) and a long term growth rate of 1% (2019: 1%).

The sensitivity analysis revealed that an impairment trigger might occur on goodwill if the OQ
Chemicals Group future EBITDA is at least 18.9% less than expected (2019- if the future EBITDA is
at least 12.4% less than expected), or WACC is at feast 10.8% or higher (2019: 11.1% or higher).

Goodwill arises on account of the Parent Company acquiring 49% investment in OOMCO
measured at fair value based on quoted price (level 1) which is in excess of carrying value.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2020

11. Investment in associates {continued)

The movement in carrying value of invesiment in associates is as follows:

2020 2019

RO000 RO000

At1 January 271,514 295,011
Divestment during the year (47,537) (33,687)
Reclassification to disposal group (64,133) -
Share of results (1,494) 22,531
Dividends received {8,368) {6,123)
Foreign currency translation 3,463 (6,059)
Provision for impairment on associates {3,886) {529)
Other movements in associates - (3,296)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates (2,551) {363)
Dilution of subsidiary into associate - 4,029
At 31 December 147,008 271,514

(i}  For GSEPS, in accordance with the Share Purchase and Sale Agreement, the shares acquired by the
Parent cannot be transferred or sold without the prior consent of the other shareholders.

(ify  Investment in GEM is fully impaired and it is the intention of the management fo not {o invest any
further in GEM. The associate is incurring continuous losses and its net assets are negative and the
Group has fully impaired its investment in earlier years.

(iii}  As of 31 December 2020, Board’s intention is o divest its holding in BORL and accordingly this
has been reclassified as an asset held for sale in 2020 (Note 16 (a)).

(iv) The shares acquired are pledged to a commercial bank in Pakistan against facilities availed by OPC.
In accordance with the Share Purchase and Sale Agreement, the shares acquired by the Parent cannot
be transferred or sold without the prior consent of the other shareholders.

(v) During the year, the company has divested entire holding in Quingdao Lidong Chemical and
Quingdao Lixing Logistics for sale consideration RO 35.67 million and RO 1.7 million respectively.

(vi) As at 31 December 2020, Board’s intention is to transfer its investment in OSC to OIA and

accordingly this has been reclassified as an asset held for sale in 2020 (Note 16 (a)).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

11. Investment in associates (continued)

(vii} OQT purchased a non-controlling 40% equity stake in the Hass Petroleum Group on 5 December
2017. The investment is held via a holding company, "AAH (BVI) Limited", which Is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. The principal place of business of Haas Petroleum Group is in East
Africa. Haas Petrolenm Group purchases petroleum products and distributes and sells them to its
businesses and retail customers throughout East Africa and the Horn of Afiica. Included in the
carrying amount is a goodwill amounting to RO 6.31 million (2019: RO 7.79 miilion). Post-
acquisition purchase consideration of AAH (BVI} Limited was adjusted downwards during the vear.
During the year an impairment foss of RO 3.88 million (2019: Nil) was recognised on investment.

(viii) TIC acquired 13.04% of the share capital of Muscat Gases Company SAOG (“MGC™), listed on
Muscat Securities Market, in 2010 and further acquired 19.62% of the share capital in 2012.
OOMCO, a subsidiary, also acquired 9.18% of the share capital of MGC in 2012. Consequently, the
Group holds 41.84% of the share capital of MGC and has thus, classified the investment as an
associate.

(ix) During 2019, Oman Energy Trading Company Limited (OETCL); a wholly owned subsidiary of
0O0C, purchase 30% shares of OQT from Eagle Properties {No 21) Limited; a wholly owned
subsidiary of State General Reserve Fund (SGRF) at a purchase consideration of RO 53 million by
divesting Mineral Development Oman and Innovation Development Oman Holding Company
SAOC at a fair value of RO 33.7 million as disclosed in note 2 (ii).

(x)  During 2019, the Group sold 40% of its shareholding in Musandam Power Company SAOG through
[PO. As a result of the divestment, Company’s holding in MPC reduced to 41.85% which resulted
in the Company losing control of MPC. Accordingly, investment in MPC is classified as an
investment in associate.

(xi) On 28 May 2005, OQ Refineries and Petroleum Industries Company SAOC; a wholly owned
subsidiary of OQ SAOC, purchase 29.9% of Air Liquide Sohar Industrial Gases LLC.

(xii) Impairment festing of investment in associates was carried out as required under 1AS 28 and 1AS 36
and the results showed an impairment charge amounting to RO 3.9 million (2019: RO 0.53 million).
The 2020 charge relates to the impairment of OQT’s investment in Hass Petroleum Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

12.
(@)

(i1)
(iii)

(iv)

)

Interest in joint ventures (continued)

As per the Shareholders’ agreement, the Group exercise joint control over Sohar Aluminum
Company LLC (SAC). Included in the carrying value is a subordinated loan granted by the Parent
Company amounting to RO 32 million (2019; RO 32 million} which is considered as net investment
in SAC as the loan is interest free and without any repayment schedule. A cash sweep arrangement
under the Common Terms Agreement effective on 31 May 2016, restricts SAC from shareholders’
distribution until 31 May 2021, or until the relevant Debt Service Account is funded with the
required balance for the balloon repayment of SAC’s borrowings,

(GSS1's operations were liquidated during the year,

As at 31 December 2020, the Board’s intention is to transfer its holding in Takatuf Oman LLC to
OlIA. Accordingly, the investment in Capability Development Institute LLC and Takatuf Petrofac
Oman LLC heid by the Fakatuf Oman L.L.C were reclassified as assets held for sale.

In 2015, the Group entity OQ Refineries LELC (ORL) and Sohar Aluminum LLC (SAL) has signed
a joint venture agreement in ABIS with an equity share ownership of 50% each and an initial
investment of RO 1.4 million (USD 3.7 million) each. The objective of this investment is to provide
education standard linked with the OQ RPI community scholarship programme with fees
comparable to the Sultanate school and to provide international standard education to the employees.

On 31 July 2017, ORL advanced a loan of RO 4.1 million (USD 10.65 million) to Al Batinah
International School {ABIS), a 50% JV investment of OQ Refineries LLC which isan OQ RP1 group
undertaking. This loan carries an interest rate of 3% p.a. payable at an interval of 6 months (These
foans are repayable within 3 years from the date of the agreement). During 2019, the ORE. advanced
interest free loan of RO 1 millon {USD 2.6 million) to ARIS. These loans are repayable within 3
years from the date of the agreement.

In June 2020 CUC, the wholly owned subsidiary of OOFDC, acquired the remaining 48.9% holding
in DPC. The holding was acquired from OOFDC and GIH Limited of 3.9% and 45% respectively.
With this acquisition CUC wholly owns DPC,

Subsequent to the above transaction OOFDC divested 48% of its holding in CUC to GIH Limited.
Accordingly the mvestment in CUC has been reclassified as an investment in joint venture.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

12. Interest in joint ventures (continued)

The Parent Company holds 50% stake in OQ8 (Formerly DRPIC). During 2020 the Parent has
increased its investment in OQ8 by granting a subordinated loan of RO 59.3 million. During 2020
OQ8 has recognized an impairment loss of RO 464 million.

The movement in carrying value of investment in joint ventures is as follows:

2020 2019
RO’000 RO000
At 1 January 439,610 236,955
Investments during the year 59,392 205,952
Dilution of subsidiary (v) 7,313 -
Dividends received (12,744) (9,916)
Share of resuits (note 36) {208,781) 11,615
Share of changes in other comprehensive loss, net of tax 3,539 (309)
Reclassiication into assets held for sale (iii) (10,155) -
Drivested during the year - {4,687}
At 31 December 278,174 439,610
13. Concession receivables
2020 2019
RO’000 RO000
At 1 January 631,028 370,329
Acquisition under ATA - 226,286
Transferred from contract assets (note 15) 193,491 50,668
Income during the vear 56,057 58,589
Transferred to property, plant and equipment - {995)
Payments received during the year {81,812) (73,849
At 31 December 798,764 631,028
Current / non-current
Non-current portion 772,298 610,366
Current portion 26,466 20,662
798,764 631,028

Concession receivables have an effective interest rate of 8.2% (2019: 8.1%) per annum and will be
settled / recovered over the term of the Concession Agreement.
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13. Concession receivables (continued)

For the purposes of impairment assessment, the concession receivables are considered to have low
credit risk as the counterparty of this receivable is MEM {which is considered as equivalent of the
Government of Oman} having Ba3 (2019: Bal) credit rating. For the purpose of impairment
assessment for these financial assets, the Joss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 1 2-month
ECL.

None of the balances at the end of the reporting period are past due and taking into account the
historical default experience and the cwrrent credit ratings, the management of the Group have
assessed that ECL is insignificant, and hence has not recorded any loss allowances on these balances.
{2019 nil).

‘There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the
current reporling period in assessing the loss allowance.

Concession Arrangements

With effect from 1 January 2018, a new revenue and tariff mechanism had been implemented for
the Company i.e. Regulatory Asset Base (RAB), This was implemented on a transitional basis by an
Amendment dated 31 December 2017, to the 22 August 2000 Tariff and Transportation Agreement
(“Amended TTA™).

A restated concession agreement was expected to be signed to ratify the RAB agreements. However,
during the Ministerial review process of the various RAB agreements, on the instruction of the
Ministry of Legal Affairs (“MOLA™), the Company was required to amend the 2000 Concession
Agreement rather than to restate the concession as had been originally anticipated, which led to the
withdrawal of the previously executed Restated Concession Agreement dated 25% December 2018.
During the year 2020, the Amended Concession Agreement (fully approved by MOLA) with the
Government of the Sultanate of Oman (“Government™ or “GOS(”) has been ratified through Royal
Decree 122/2020 issued on 28 October 2020. The ratification of the Amended Concession
Agreement and associated RAB agreements by Royal Decree 122/2020 means that the Amended
TTA has been superseded.

As noted above, the amended TTA is superseded upon issuance of the Royal Decree which fully
implemented the RAB system. The Amended Concession Agreement’s terms, with respect to the
determination and charging of transportation charges, are consistent with those under the Amended
TTA, hence, no change in accounting treatment is required upon the application of Amended
Concession Agreement.

The Government of the Sultanate of Oman, acting through the Ministry of Energy and Minerals
{"MEM" - formerly known as Ministry of Oil and Gas) and the Ministry of Finance (the
“Government" or “GOSO™), has entered into the amended concession agreement (the *Amended
Concession Agreement”) with the Company (acting as an “Qperator”™) whereby it grants exclusively
to the Company the right to own, acquire, finance, design, construct, operate, maintain, repair and
augment the Natural Gas Transportation Network (the “Concession™ or “Infrastructure™). The term
of the Amended Concession Agreement is 50 years. At the end of the term of the Amended
Concession Agreement, the Infrastructure including assets other than Gas Transportation System
assets will be transferred to the Government.
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13. Concession receivables (continued)
Concession arrangements (continted)

The following documents form part of revised concession agreement:

RAB Revenue Rules

These rules describe the Price Control / Tariff Setting process, provide regulatory accounting
guidelines and provide the computation mechanism of maximum allowed revenues.

RAB Tariff Rules

These rules focus on cost reflectivity and a stable tariff development and establish gas transportation
tariff charges payable by the shippers and connected parties.

Transportation Framework Agreement {"TFA")

TFA entered into between the OQ GN (as gas transporter) and the MEM (as the Shipper). The
purpose of TFA is to establish the contractual framework between the OQ GN and the shippers
making the Transportation Code binding.

Transportation Code

The Transportation Code contains the terms for the transportation services provided for by the
Company and the shipper. Transportation Code includes: Description of services provided by the
TSO; Obligation on shipper to pay for services provided; Capacity booking regime, capacity
charges; Nominations and balancing regime; Capacity expansion regime; Metering and gas quality;
Invoicing and payment and Dispute resolution.

Previous concession agreement

The previous concession agreement (the “Previous Concession Agreement”) with Government of
the Sultanate of Oman was for the period of 27 years stating from 22 August 2000. Under the
Previous Concession Agreement, OQ GN was granted a concession for the construction, ownership,
operation and maintenance of two gas pipelines from Fahud to Sohar and from Saih Rawl to Salalah
and the ownership, operation and maintenance of the Government Gas Transportation System.
Under the Previous Concession Agreement, OQ GN was operating as an Agency ofthe Government.
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13. Concession receivables (continued)
Asset transfer agreements

The Group has entered into an asset transfer agreement (the “Asset Transfer Agreement” or “ATA™)
with the Government of the Sultanate of Oman dated 13 May 2018, whereby acquired the ownership
of gas transportation facilities from the Government with effect from 1 January 2018. The Group:

(a) acquired certain gas transportation facilities including pipelines, gas supply stations, metering
stations and compressor stations;

(b) acquired certain assets under construction;

(¢} settled the liabiiities of the Government in respect of certain gas transportation assets transferred
by the Government to the OQ GN under an asset transfer agreement dated 22 August 2000;

(d) settled the liabilities of the Government in respect of an asset package, procured by the OQ GN
from the Government, financed by a commercial loan repaid by the Government; and

(e) settled the liabilities of the Government in respect assets directly financed by the Government
pursuant to gas transportation and tariff agreement dated 22 August 2000.

As per the Asset Transfer Agreement purchase price amounting to RO 174,821,600 has been seftled
by issuing the shares to the Company’s shareholders and remaining amount would be settled in cash,

Asset transfer agreement entered in 2019

During 2019, the Company entered into two separate ATAs with the Government of the Sultanate
of Oman effective from 1 July 2019 and 31 December 2019 for purchase of gas transportation
pipeline system and ancillary assets at a purchase price amounting to RO 183,669,552 and RO
42,616,114 respectively. As per the ATAs, 50% of the purchase price is to be settled by issuing the
shares to the Company’s shareholders and remaining amount would be settied in cash (note 23). The
Parent Company is in the process of issuing share capital (note 23).

Under ATA, the amount of the assets acquired, and liabilities seftled in 2019 were as Tollows:

2019
RO000

Gas transportation assets transferred to :
- Concession receivables (note 13) 226,286
- Contract assets (note 15) -
226,286
Liabilitics settled -
Total purchase price payable 226,286

In-kind equity contribution:

Issuance of share capital against purchase price (113,143)

Net cash settlement 113,143
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13.

14.

Concession receivables (continued)

The Greup has adopted [FRIC 12 to the revised concession agreement with GOSO. Under the IFRIC
12, financial asset account model has been adopted and IFRS 15 has been followed for the
construction or upgrade services undertaken by the Group.

Pursuant to the foregoing and Asset Transfer Agreement, following balances have been transferred
from property, plant and equipment to concession receivables and contract assets in 2018:

Concession Contract .
T Total
receivables assets
RO’000 RO000 ROO00
Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 98,112 83,123 181,235
Receivable from government - 68,952 68,952
98,112 152,075 250,187

Previously the Group Entity “0OQ GN” entered into an asset transfer agreement {the “Previous Asset
Transfer Agreement™) with the Government of the Sultanate of Oman dated 22 August 2000, whereby
the Government transferred ownership of a major part of its existing gas transportation facilities to
0Q GN with effect from 2 December 2000 against a purchase price of RO 26,930,000 (US$
70,000,000).

The loan was settled against the purchase of assels through the asset transfer agreement entered in
2018. The purchase price payable was converted into an unsecured interest-free loan payable in ten
equal semi-annual instalments commencing six months after repayment of all other loans of OQ GN.
No assets were transferred during 2020.

L.ease receivables

The lease income recognized in these consolidated financial statements relates to the Supplementary
Tariff Agreement (STA) between the Group and the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. The
Group has concluded that the STA is an arrangement which cortains a lease and has accounted for
the investment in the Plant and revenue from the State accordingly. Under the STA the Group
constructed, and now operates, the Musandam Gas Plant (the Plant/MGP), located in the Musandam
province of Oman. The State directs the Group to make the processing capacity of the Plant available
to third parties. Theterm ofthe STA is 20 years from the date of first gas processing, which occurred
in early 2016, and at the end of the term the assets of the Plant revert to the State. The Group retains
substantially no risk in the underlying asset.

The lease payments to be made to the Group from the State under the revised STA which became
effective from 1 Jan 2017, comprise of a number of elements, each payable monthly:

s A Capacity Charge of USD 790 million, to allow the Group to recover costs of construction over
a 20-vear period,

e An Annual Processing Costs (APC) charge, to allow the Group to recover operating costs up to
a contractual cap and recognized in profit or loss (note 3). A credit is given for any amounts
recovered from third parties;
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14.

Lease receivables (continued)
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e A Fixed Remuneration Charge, to be paid over 20 years in such a manner to yield an initial

internal rate of return to the Group of 7%; and
¢ Income tax to be paid by the Group.

The lease income is recognized in the statement of profit and loss with an effective interest rate of

9.08%.

Lease income

Finance income on the net investiment in lease

2020
RO’660

24,996

2019
RO000

25,646

The net investment in the lease constitutes the cost of construction of the underlying assets.

Net investment in lease
Opening

Repayments

Closing

Presented as
Current asset
Non-current asset

Finance lease receivable
2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

Remaining

Less: interest element
Net investment in lease

2020 2019
RO’000 RO000
267,188 274,730

(7,840) (7.542)
259,348 267,188

9,157 8,227
250,191 258,961
259,348 267,188

- 33,188

33,384 33,188
33,279 33,188
33,212 33,188
33,204 33,188
33,188 .
333,938 367,027
500,205 532,967
(240,857 (265,779)
259,348 267,188
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15. Contract assets
20290 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
RO'OO0 RO'0G00 RO'W080 RO000 RO'CO0  RO'OOO
Due;l'li;r‘;; Others Total Due£§$ Others Total
At 1 January 280,673 9,595 290,268 275,266 10,037 285,303
Transferred to concession :
receivables (note 13) (193,491) T (193,491 (50,668) - (30,668)
Additions during the year 56,274 - 56,274 56,075 3,939 60,014
Accrued during the year - - - - 2,468 2,468
Finance income during the year 16,779 - 16,779 - - -
Invoiced and transferred to
related party - (7.857) (7,857) - (6,566)  (6,566)
Received during the year {15,775) - (15,775) - {283) {283)
At 31 December 144,460 1,738 146,198 280,673 9,595 290,268
{(a) A contract asset is recognised for the period in which the construction services are performed to

(b}

{c)

(d)

represent the Company’s right to consideration for the services rendered to date. Under the RAR
rules, the Company receives an allowed rate of return on the work in progress infrastructure asset.
Accordingly, contract assets represent balances due from the Shipper under obligation of the
Company relating to the construction of the infrastructure under the Concession Agreement and
the return on those services under the RAB rules but not invoiced.

Payment becomes due from the Shipper when the infrastructure asset is commissioned and
completed and any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to concession
receivables at the point at which it is commissioned and becomes operational.

For the purpose of impairment assessment for these financial assets, the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. None of the amounts due from customers at the end of the
reporting period is past due as payments will be made in the form of reimbursemient of depreciation
once the contract asset is commissioned and transferred to concession receivable,

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the
current reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for the amounts due from customers under
construction contracts. There were no impairment losses recognised on any contract asset in the
reporting pertod (2019: Nii).

Due from others includes receivable on account of the Pipe rack to be constructed at Salalah Port.
As per the correspondence among the OQ group Companies (including Parent Company) and the
relevant Ministries, the amount of pipe rack would be uftimately paid by the Government and / or
relevant Ministry.
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16a.

16bh.

Assets held for sale
2620 2019
RO*600 RO000
Takatuf Oman LLC 12,284 “
Bharat Oman Refineries Limited 28,637 -
Oman Shipping Company SAGC 35,497 -
76,418 -

During the year, investments in BORL, Takatuf and Oman Shipping Company has been classified
as held for sale. Investments in these entitics are expected to be disposed of in the next 12 months.

As at 31 December 2020, the disposal group was stated at carrying value which is less than the fair
value less cost to sell of the disposal group.

Investments at fair value through profit and loss

Management assessed that the Group has no significant influence over these companies, hence these
mvestments have been classified as fair value through profit and loss invesiments. Management has
not exercised its irrevocable option to designate these Investments at FVOCI on the initial
application of IFRS 9.

2020 2019

RO000) RO 000

Quoted investments 255,897 314,512
Unguoted investments 57,882 57,920
313,779 372,432

Impairment provision {9,500) {5,626)

304,279 366,806

The impairment provisions related to unquoted investments (iii) and (iv).

Quoted investments

MOL PLC (i) 166,364 220,672

Redes Energéticas Nacionais (ii) 89,533 93,840
255,897 314,512

In 2008, the Parent Company established OOHL as a 100% subsidiary, registered in the Cayman
Islands. OOHL has 100% holding interest in OOBL, which further holds 7% shares of MOL PLC,
a company listed in Hungary, designated as an investment at fair value through profit or loss.

The purchase price per share was HUF 1,577 and the market price per share as at 31 December 2020
was HUF 2,190 (2019: HUF 2,940).
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16b.

(i)

(i)

(iv)

v)

Investments at fair value through profit and loss (continued)

Quoted investments {continued)

During 2012, Mazoon BV, a 100% subsidiary, acquired 15% shares in Redes Energéticas Nacionais,
SGPS, S. A (REN). The purchase price per share was Euro 2.56 and the market per share price as at
31 December 2020 was Euro 2.37 per share (2019 Euro 2.72 per share).

Unquoted investments

During 2012, the Parent Company invested RO 48.138 million under a Shareholder’s Agreement
between the Parent Company, and Vale International SA and Vale Oman Pelletizing Company LLC
(“VOPC”) dated 29 May 2010 (the “Shareholder’s Agreement™),

The fair value of the investment is computed based on inputs not observable in the market using
discounted cash flow modelling.

Significant unobservable inputs

° Risk adjusted discount rate of 10% (2019: 10%)
a Average growth in annual production by 1% (2019: 1%)

Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and the fair value measurement
The estimated fair value would increase (decrease) if

e The risk adjusted discount rate was lower (higher)
e The average growth in annual production was higher (lower)

During 2013, the Parent Company acquired a 16.48% shareholding in Perpetuat Global Technologies
Limited (PGTL), a company registered in Mauritius for a total consideration of RO 5.20 million.

During 2013, the Group recorded an impairment loss towards its investment of RO 5.20 million on
account of significant or prolonged decline in the value of investment. The Company further invested
RO 0.43 million in 2015. Due to continued losses, management has fully impaired the investment
in 2016 considering the fair value of PGTL to be nil and recognised an impairment loss of RO 5.7
million in previous years,

During 2012, the Parent Company’s board approved the acquisition of up to 25% of the issued share
capital in Black Rock Metals Inc. subject to a maximum investment of CAD 90 million (RO 34.92
million). Under the agreement the Parent Company subscribed for 6.76% share capital for an amount
of CAD 10 million (RO 3.88 million). During 2020 this investment was fully impaired due to
significant defay in project construction.
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17. Term deposits

2020 2019
RO’004 RO000
Shori-term-deposits 203,331 172,563

Deposits more than one year are denominated in Rial Omani and US Dollars, classified as short ferm
as the option to break the deposits rests with the Group at not breakage cost and are held with
commercial banks, with maturities of more than one year as at reporting date. They carry interest at
effective annual rates ranging between 4.5% (2019: between 0.1% to 3.5 %).

Deposits less than one year are denominated in US Dollars and Rial Omani and are held with
commercial banks. They carry interest at effective annual rates ranging between 0.12% to 5.00%
(2019: 0.25% to 4.55%), with maturities ranging from one to twelve months from the reporting date.
interest on deposits acerues on a monthly basis.

Term deposits are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are highly regulated by
the central banks of the respective countries, Accordingly, the management of the Group estimates the
loss aliowance on balances with banks at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal to 12
month ECL. None of the balances with banks at the end of the reporting period are past due, and taking
into account the historical default experience and the current credit ratings of the bank, the management
of the Group has assessed that there is no significant expected credit loss.

18. Other non-current assets

2020 2019

ROG00 RO000

Staff benefits & staff housing loans 2,100 2,321
Receivables and Advances 5,987 11,670
Other assets 1,369 3,364

13,456 17,355
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19. Inventories

Finished goods
Otl and lubricants
Stores and spares

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolescence inventories

Movement in allowance for slow-moving and obsolescence;

At 1 January

Provision written off’

Net charge / (reversal) during the vear
At 31 December

2020 2019
RG000 ROC000
119,143 133,763
172,909 143,256
260,914 237,363
552,960 514,382

(6,516) {2,058)
546,450 512,324

2020 2019

RO’800 ROM000
2,058 3,111
(137) -
4,595 {1,853)
6,516 2,058

Net charge/ (reversal) include amount of RO 4.46 million (2019: Reversal of RO 1.08 million) charged
to cost of sales. The inventories are wrote down to their net realisable value.

Inventories refated to OQ Chemicals amounting to RO 93.3million (2019; RO 94.4 million) have been

pledged against loans and borrowings of OQ Chemicals (note 27).

Inventories amounting to RO 126.41 million {2019: RO 88.19 million) are held at fair value less costs
to seil. Fair value of inventory is a level 2 fair value measurement (note 44) using observable market
prices obtained from reference exchange traded reference indices or market data providers adjusted for
location and quality differentials. There are no significant unobservable inputs in the fair value

measurement of such inventories.
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20. Trade and other receivables

21.

2020 2019

RO000 RO000

Trade receivables ) 455,803 489,361
Less: expected credit losses {9,291) (4.417)
446,512 484,944

Other receivables 208,333 124,081
Advances to suppliers 76,535 48,731
Advances to employees 1,955 1,482
Prepaid expenses 13,517 15,778
746,852 675,016

Substantially all receivables of Oman Qi Holding Europe BV amounting to RO 38.4 million (2019;
35.89 miilion) are either assigned and transferred for security purposes or pledged.

Derivatives

Derivatives assets Derivafives liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000 RO’800 RO OO0
Derivatives held {or trading 73,714 75,590 45,414 53,088
Cash flow hedges - - 84,570 49,537
73,714 75,590 129,984 103,225
Less: current portion {73,714) (75,590 (68,772) (64,385)
Non-current portion - - 61,212 38,840

Commodity contracts relaiing to OO0 Trading

As part of its business operations, OQ Trading uses derivative financial instriments (“derivatives™)
in order to manage exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices arising from its physical commodity
business,

Trading activities are undertaken sometimes using a range of contract types in combination to create
incremental gains by arbitraging prices between markets, locations and time periods.

Within the ordinary course of business OQ Trading entity routinely enters into sale and purchase
transactions for commodities. These transactions are within the scope of IFRS 9 due to the trading
nature of OQ Trading’s activities.

As a result, these physical contracts are treated as derivatives in accordance with IFRS 9. These
contracts include pricing terms that are based on a variety of commodities and indices. They are
recognised in the Statements of financial position at fair value with movements in fair value
recognised in the Statements of profit or loss.
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21.

Derivatives (continued)

Commodity contracts relating to OO Trading (continved)

0OQ Trading also uses various commodity based derivative instruments to manage some of the risks
arising from its normal operating activities that give rise to commodity price exposures. Such
instruments include financial forwards, futures and swaps. These are recognised in the Statements of
financial position at fair value with movements in fair value recognised in the Statements of
comprehensive income.

For OQ Trading, all derivatives are classified as held-for-trading instruments.

Held-for-trading derivatives

The Group’s physical and financial commodity contracts, other than those which do not meet the
criteria under IFRS 9, are classified as held for trading and are recognised at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The net
of these exposures is monitored using VaR techniques.

Cash flow hedges

During the year, the Parent company entered into interest rate swap agreements with commercial
banks, at annual fixed interest rates ranging from 0.5030% to 0.5250% to receive interest at LIBOR
from the banks. These interest rate swaps are designated as effective cash flow hedge and the fair
value thereof is based on market values of equivalent instruments at the reporting date and has been
dealt with in equity. The hedging arrangement obliges the Parent Company to pay fixed interest at
the rate as below per annum semi-annually.

Bank Name Year Amount

RO000
ABC Bank 5 Year 126,518
Deutche Bank 5 Year 72,296
First Abu Dhabi Bank 5 Year 408,484
Gulf International bank 5 Year 108,445
HSBC Bank 5 Year 72,296
ING Group 5 Year 315,113
Natixis 5 Year 72,296
National Bank of Bahrain 5 Year 144,593
Societe Generale 5 Year 144,593
Mashreq 5 Year 144,593
Notfional amount as at 31 Deec 2020 1,606,227

In accordance with article 8.3 of its Common Terms Agreement for long term loans (note 27), a
subsidiary of the Group, OQ Plastics LL.C is required to enter into an interest rate hedging agreement
with a view to cap the Group's exposure to fluctuating interest rates.
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21. Derivatives (continued)

Cash flow hedsges (continued)

OQ Plastics LLC has entered into hedging agreements which are designed to cap its

87

exposure (o

fluctuating interest rates for the period of construction of the LIWA Plastic Plant. Thereafter OQ
Plastics LLC will release 44% of the hedging arrangement and maintain approximately that

relationship to the outstanding loan balance by reducing the principal covered under
arrangement on a periodic basis until its expiry on 15 December 2031,

the hedging

As at the reporting date, a principal amount of approximately USD 1,774 million (RO 683 million)

[2019: USD 1,842 million (RO 709.38 million)] was covered under this agreement.

The hedging arrangement obliges the Subsidiary to pay fixed interest at the rates ranging 3.22% to

3.36% as below per annum semi-annually.

Bank Name Year Amount
RO008
BNP Paribas 5 Year 122,405
BNP Paribas 10 Year 71,403
Credit Agricole CIB 5 Year 142,865
Credit Agricole CIB 10 Year 71,403
Societe Generale 5 Year 44,802
Societe Generale 7 Year 81,603
HSBC 13 Year 65,282
ING Group 13 Year 16,321
JP Morgan 7 Year 40,802
MUFG 7 Year 30,601
Notional amount as at 31 Dec 2028 683,427
Notional amount as at 31 Dec 2019 709,381
22. Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019

RO'G00 RO'000

Bank balances (current and call accounts) 460,480 567,365

Cash balance 289 136

460,769 567,501

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows include bai
cash and call deposits with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

1k balances,

Call deposits carry annual interest at rates ranging between 0.12% to 3.50% per annum (2019: 0.25%

to 3.50% per annum).
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23. Share capital
Authorised Issued and paid up
2020 2019 2020 2019
RO000 RO000 RO000 RO000
Ordinary shares of RO 1 each 5,000,000 5,000,000 3,428,435 3,315,293

The Parent Company is fully owned by Oman Investment Authority (OLA).

During 2019, the Parent Company has issued additional shares of 113.142 million at RO I each to the
shareholder, which are registered during 2020.

In 2019, the Parent Company issued 302,313,000 shares at a face value of RO T each to MOF against
acquisition of OQ RPI. The issue of shares and acquisition of OPRIC is accounted for as a transaction
under common control,

24. Statufory reserve

Article 132 of the Commercial Companies Law of 2019 requires that 10% of a company's net profit
to be transferred to a non-distributable legal reserve until the amount of the legal reserve becomes
equal to one-third of the Parent Company's fully-paid share capital. Accordingly, during 2020, nil
(2019: RO 4.16 million) of the Parent Company’s annual profit was transferred to the legal reserve.
The reserve is not available for distribution.

Other reserve

Other reserve mainly relates to the following:

e Fair valuation gain amounting to RO 103 million (USD 267 million) on transfer of Block 9 to
the Group entity by the Sultanate of Oman for nil consideration in 2016.

*  Asdisclosed innote 48, the Parent Company applied predecessor accounting using the net carrying
value resulting in recording the excess of consideration paid over the net carrying value of assets
acquired amounting to RO 90.4 milfion, as an adjustment in consolidated statement of changes in
equity under “other reserves”,
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26. Fair value reserve

Hedging reserve

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures

Movement in fair value reserve during the year is as follows:

At 1 January 2019

Recycling accumulated fair value reserve to retained
earnings on adoption of IFRS 9

Share of OCI of joint ventures and associates

At | January 2020

Fair values changes, net of NCI

Share of OCI of joint ventures and associates
Difution of subsidiary

At 31 December 2020

89

2020 2019
RO600 RO (00
(97.807) (43,406)
(1,571) (2,559)
(99,378) (45,965)

Share of other

comprehensiv

¢ income of

Hedging associates and
reserve joint ventures Total
RO000 RO000 RO000
29,000 (1,887 27,113
(72,406) - (72,406)
- {672) (672)
{43,406) (2,55%9) (45,965)
{50,482) - {50,482)
- 988 988
{3,919 - (3,919)
{97,807) {1,571) (99,378)
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27. Loans and borrowings
The following Group entities have availed loans and borrowings which are detailed below:
2020 2019
RO800 RO000
Parent Company (i} 312,278 -
OQEP (ii) 469,003 461,498
Oman Oil Holding Europe B. V. (iii) 397,474 378,419
00 Trading Limited (iv) 53,602 38,462
00 Methano! LLC (v) 204,066 168,726
Takamu] Investment Company SAOC (vi) 99,668 99,335
00Q Gas Network SAOC (vii) 383,501 422,180
Oman Ol Marketing Company SAOG (viii) - 578
OQ RPI (ix) 2,886,660 2,986,559
Oman Oil Facilities Development Company LLC {x) 207,954 216,770
Oman Tank Terminal Company LLC (xi) 50,449 -
5,064,647 4,772,527
Less: current portion {704,880) {836,766)
Non-current portion 4,359,767 3,935,761

(i} Parent Company

Revolving credit facility (a) 173,295 -
Term loan facilities (b) 138,975 -
312,270 -

a. Revolving credit facility

During 2017, the Parent Company entered into a Revolving Credit Faeility (RCF”) agreement
amounting to USD 1150 million for a period of 5 years maturing in 2022. During 2018, the
Company signed a supplementary Agreement whereby Facility B was obtained amounting to USD
1,350 million for a period of 5 years maturing in 2023,

As at the reporting date, the RCF consisted of two facilities as follows:

= Iacility A: RO 442.87 million (USD 1,150 million} for a period of 5 years at LIBOR plus
applicable margin (depending on Oman Sovereign rating) interest per annum; and

e Facility B: RO 519.89 million (USD 1,350 million) for a period of 5 vears at LIBOR plus
applicable margin (depending on Oman Sovereign rating) interest per annum,

e Furthermore, the Parent Company has to pay utilisation fee ranging from 0.10%, 0.20% and
0.40%, respectively based on the utilisation of facility amount.

e The Parent Company has to pay commitment fees of 35% of the margin on the unutilised portion
of the facility amount and payment would be made on quarterly basis.
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27. l.oans and borrowings (continued)

(i) Parent Company (continued)
a. Revolving credit facility (continued)

The Parent Company has unsecured RCF having total commitment amounting to RO 963 million
(USD 2.5 billion). As at the reporting date, the Parent Company has withdrawn amount equivalent
to RO 173.295 million, representing equal drawings under each facility. The RCF facilities are
repayable in tranches within five years based on the utilisation of the facility,

Covenants:
. The RCF facilities contain the following financial covenants:
*  To maintain a minimwn tangible net worth of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries; or

*  The Government of the Sultanate of Oman shall retain the direct or indirect legal ownership of
at least 100% of the issued share capital of the Company; or

= At least one of Standard & Poor or Moody’s shall rate the Sultanate of Oman.

Otherwise, the outstanding amounts under RCF will become repayable on demand, if requested by
the lenders. The Parent Company has complied with these covenanis throughout the reporting

period.

b. Term loan facilities

Term Loan I

On 28 July 2020, the Parent Company entered into a five-year unsecured syndicated term loan
facility, which has two tranches:

° Tranche A: a five-year RO 110.475 million (USD 286.87 million) facility with a floating
rate of interest set by reference to the Central Bank of Oman’s weighted average interest
rate for RO deposits of more than one year plus applicable margin. As at 31 December
2020, the Parent Company had RO 9.625 million (USD 23 million) outstanding under this
facility; and

. Tranche B: a five-year USD 6035 million (RO 233 million) facility with a floating rate of
interest set by reference to U.S. dollar LIBOR plus a fixed margin of 3.75%. As at 31
December 2020, the Parent Company had USD 180 million (RO 69.318 million)
outstanding under this facility.
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27. Loans and borrowings {continued)

(i} Parent Company {continued)

b. Term loan facilities (continued)

This term loan contains a financial covenant fo maintain a minimum tangible net worth of GQ
SAOC and its subsidiaries.

Term Loan 11

On 27 September 2020, the Parent Company enfered into a five-year unsecured RO 35 million (USD
91 million) Istamic facility. Under the facility, the Company pays semi-annual profit which varies
and is set by reference to the Central Bank of Oman’s weighted average interest rate for RO deposits
of more than one year plus a fixed margin of 1.88%. As at 31 December 2020, the facility was fully
drawn.

This term lean contains a financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth of the Parent
Company and its subsidiaries.

Term Loan III

On 8 November 2020, the Parent Company entered into an additional vnsecured Islamic facility of
USD 130 million with a five-year tenor. Under the facility, the Company pays a floating rate of
interest set by reference to U.S. dollar LIBOR plus a fixed margin of 3.75%. As at 31 December
2020, the Company had USD 65 million {RO 25.032 million) outstanding under this facility.

This term foan contains a financial covenant to maintain a minimum tangible net worth of 0Q SAOC
and its subsidiaries.

2026 208819

(ii) O Exploration and Production L.L.C (OQEP) RO™000 RCROVBO0

Long term botrowings of the OQEP (i) 380,864 379,909
Long term borrowings of Abraj Energy Services SAQC (ii) 75,870 80,389
Short term borrowings of Abraj Energy Services SAQC 12,269 1,200

469,003 461,498
Short term borrowings 12,269 1,200
Current portion of long term loan 71,515 40.310
Non-current portion of fong term loan 397,488 440,743

469,003 461,498
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)
(i) Long term borrowings of OQEP
Effective
. . 2020 2019
interest Maturity RO’000 RO’000
rate
3 Month

September 2021 —

PXF — LIBOR® o ember 2024 385,100 385,100
facility Margin

2020 2019

RO’000 RO000

Term loan 385,100 385,100
Less: untamortised financing costs (4,236) (5,191
Current portion {59,256} -
Non-current portion 321,608 379,909

As per the Facility Agreement, certain financial institutions advanced the Company, USD 1 billion
(the PXF Facility). As per original facility agreement, the advance will be settled in 13 equal
quarterly instalments starting from 30 September 2019 to 13 September 2022. During 2019, the
Company restructured the facility and extended the term of facility by 2 years. Accordingly, the
repayment of the advance will be settled in I3 equal installments starting from 30 September 2021
to 30 September 2024,

Interest charges and principal repayments are settled through the delivery of crude oil over the period
of the arrangement. The Company also has entered into a Forward Sales Agreement and other
ancillary contracts with OQEP PXF 1 B.V. (the Buyer) to physically deliver all of the Group’s oil
liquid entitlements from Block 60, Block 9, Block 61 and Block 33 to the Buyer. Under the
agreement the Buyer will retain cash received from the ultimate sale of oil to fund its debt service
obligations and adminisirative expenses, with the balance being paid to the Company conditional on
meeting certain banks covenants, Where the benefits of such retentions are expected to ultimately
flow to the Group they are presented as restricted cash (Note 22).

2020 2019
RO’000 RO000

Unamortised Financing costs
At 1 January 5,191 2,937
Incurred in period - 2,889
Amortised (955) (985)
- 350

Gain on measurement as per RS 9

At 31 December 4,236 5,191
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)
(ii) Long term borrowings of Abraj Energy Services SAOC (Abraj)
2020 2019
Term loans Maturity RO’000 RO000
Term loan Ii1 November 2020 - 11,660
Term loan 1V May 2021 3,033 3,733
Term loan V April 2023 19,580 20,900
Term loan VI December 2023 28,840 29,723
Term loan Vi1 December 2025 9,722 10,489
Term loan VIII December 2028 26,964 3,884
88,139 80,389
Less: current portion (12,269) {19,555)
Non-current portion 75,870 60,834

Term loans are provided by various commercial banks and some are denominated in US Dollar,
others in Omani Rials. The tenm loans carry interest at LIBOR plus fixed margins and are repayable
in variable instalments.

(a) Term loan II1

Tranche [ -- The term loan was denominated in US Dollars and 60% of the term loan was repayable
in 13 consecutive half-yearly instalments of US § 1,801,544 (RO 693,775) each. The final
instalment of US § 15.61 million (RO 6.01 mitlion), representing 40% of term loan, was repaid in
December 2020. Interest on the term loan was payable at 3 months LIBOR plus fixed margin.

Tranche 11 — The term loan was denominated in US Dollars and 60% of the term loan was repayable
in 13 consecutive half-yearly instalments US § 1,093,394 (RO 421,066). The final instalment of US
$ 9.48 miltion (RO 3.65 million), representing 40% of term Joan, was paid in Qctober 2020, Interest
on term loan was payable at 3 months LIBOR plus fixed margin.

Tranche Il —=The term loan was denominated in US Dollars and 60% of the term loan was repayable
in 13 consecutive half-yearly instalments of US § 237,383 (RO 91,416) cach. The final instalment
of US § 2.05 million (RO 0.79 million), representing 40% of term loan, was repaid in December
2020. Interest on the term loan is payable at 3 months LIBOR plus fixed margin.

(b} Term loan IV

The term loan is denominated in US Bollars and 60% of the term loan is repayable in 13 consecutive
half-yearly instalments of US § 908,836 (RO 349,993) each. The final instalment of US § 7.88
million (RO 3.03 million), representing 40% of term loan, is repayable in May 2021, Interest on the
term loan is payable at 3 months LIBOR plus fixed margin.
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27.

Loans and borrowings (continued)

Long term borrowings of Abraj Energy Services SAOC (Abraj) (continued)
(c) Term loan V

The term Joan is denominated in Omani Rials and 60% of the term loan is repayable in 28 quarterly
instalments of RO 660,000 each. The final instalment of RO 12.32 million, representing 40% of
term loan, is repayable in year 2023, Interest on term loan is payable at fixed percentage below base
lending rate of the lender and to be serviced on monthly basis. Subsequent to 31 December 2020,
the term loan is under restructuring.

{d) Term loan VI

The term loan is denominated in Omani Rials and 60% of the term loan is repayable in 28 quarterly
instalments of RO 882,857 each. The final instalment of RO 16.48 million, representing 40% of
tetmn loan, is repayable in year 2023, Interest on the term loan is payable on quarterly basis and the
interest rates are reset on annual review basis, Subsequent to 31 December 2020, the term loan is
under restructuring.

{e) Term loan VII

The term loan is denominated in Omani Rials and 60% of the term loan is repayable in 27 quarterly
instalments of RO 255,822 each. The 28" final instalment of RO 4.6 million, representing 40% of
term loan, is repayable in year 2025, Interest on the term loan is payable on quarterly basis and the
interest rates are reset on annual review basis.

() Term loan VIII

In 2019, Abraj has availed the term loan which is denominated in USD to finance the purchase of
four Rigs and two Hoists units. The full drawdown will be completed by June 2021. The repayments
will commence on Sep 2021, The final maturity of the loan will be on June 2029. Interest on the
term loan is payable at 3 months LIBOR plus fixed margin.

Security ferms for the abeve loans
Securities for the loans are as follows:

»  Assignment of revenues for the assets financed through that commercial bank.
e Negative lien over the assets financed through that commercial bank (note 6).
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27, Loans and borrowings {continued)
(iiiy Oman Oil Holding Europe B.V.
OOC Holding Europe BV has the following facilities:
2020 2019 Interest rate
Facilities RO800 RO000
Term loan — First Lien B-1 (Euro} 223,188 202,834 Refer note below
Term loan — First Lien B-2 (USD) 172,048 172,624 Refer note below
Other loans 2,238 2,961 1.0% - 4.85%
397,474 378,419

In October 2017, OQ Chemicals Corporation, Houston (TX)/USA, and OQ Chemicals Holding Drei
GmbH, Monheim am Rhein/Germany, established a Senior Facilities Agreement comprising: (i)
term loans of €475.0 million and US$500.0 million with a maturity in October 2024 and quarterly
mandatory repayments (for the USS tranche only) of 0.25% of the principal, and; (ii) a Revolving
Credit Facility of €137.5 million with a maturity in October 2023. In line with the credit agreements,
0Q Chemicals made mandatory term loan repayments in an amount against the US$ tranche of
UJS$5.0 million in 2020. The remaining un-utilised amounts at December 31, 2020 are €475.0
million and US$430.0 miilion. The interest rates of the Term Loans are based on
EURIBOR/USD-LIBOR (each subject to a floor of 0%) plus a margin, The margins are reduced
according to a margin grid if the leverage ratios have reached a defined fevel.

0OQ Chemicals International Holding GmbH, Monheim am Rhein/Germany, and certain of its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Guarantors™) guarantee the full and prompt payment of the obligations
of the Borrowers and the other Guarantors. All obligations under the Credit Agreement and the
Guarantee are secured by a first priority security interest in favor of the Administrative Agent for
the benefit of the Lenders. The collateral includes piedges over the equity interests in the Borrowers
and certain of the Guarantors. The Borrowers and Guarantors in Germany have pledged substantiafly
all of their capital stock, bank accounts, intellectual property, receivables and moveable assets. The
Borrowers and Guarantors in the United States have pledged substantially all of their assets except
real estate. All of the collateral is subject to certain exciusions as set forth in further detail in the
Credit Agreement.

Furthermore, OQ Advanced Derivatives Nanjing Ltd. has access to local Working Capital facilities
of CNY163.0, of which CNY38.0 million were drawn at December 31, 2020, which are in all cases
due for repayment one year affer issuance but can be renewed.

Additionally, OQ Chemicals GmbH, Monheim am Rhein/Germany and OQ Services, LLC, Houston
(TX)/USA maintain an Asset Backed Commercial Paper (ABCP) Program with Landesbank
BadenWiirttemberg, which provides a facility for the sale of trade receivables. As customer
collections are permanently being paid into bank accounts of the Sellers under the ABCP-program,
the accounts at year-end show liabilities of €3.4 mithon (2019: €2.9 million) and US$ 6.5 million
(2019: USS§ 4.5 million) against the Purchaser resufting mostly from collections that have not yet
been passed onward.
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27.

(iv)

v

Loans and borrowings {continued)

0Q Trading LLC (OQT)

The Group trading activities are primarily financed via a syndicated USD 700m (2019: USD
1,000m) secured uncommitted Borvowing Base Facility to finance the Group’s working capital
requirements. The facilities have a 12-month term ending June 2021, with a 12-month extension
option. The facility carries bank charges and interest at prevailing competitive commercial market
rates and is secured by a charge on specific assets of the Group primarily comprised of trade accounts
receivables, inventories, bank balances and cash. Applicable financial covenants for the facility
include a requirement for a minimum tangible net worth and current ratio of the Group.

The Group also has access to uncommitted financing via bilateral working capital credit facilities
totalling approximatety USD 637.7m (2019: USD 500.0m).

At 31 December 2020, the Group had loans and overdrafts of RO 53.6m (USD 139.2m) [2019: RO
38.5m (USD 99.9m}| drawn from its facilities, presented as loans and overdrafis in the consolidated
statement of financial position, Additional utilisations under the Group’s facilities in the form of
contingent commitments such as letters of credit are disclosed in Note 43.

0Q Methanol (SFZ) L.L.C

0OQ Methanol has syndicated long-term loan facilities (“syndicate facilities™) in the aggregate
maximum amount of RO 280.35 million (USD 728 million) under a facilities agreement dated 13 July
2017 comprising of term loan facility only. As at 31 December 2020, RO 204.1 miltion (USD 530
million) is drawn against total loan commitment of RO 280135 million (USD 728 million). The
aggregate amount of new term foan facility is repayable in eighteen semi-annual instalments, in
amounts ranging from RO 7.40 mitlion (USD 19.22 million) to RO 43.03 million (USD 111.75
million). Repayment wili commence from December 2020. The new term lfoan facility and standby
term loan facility bear interest at US LIBOR rates plus applicable margins, subject to repricing on a
semi-annual basis. The margins vary depending upon outstanding facilities and status of the project in
relation to completion.

The syndicated loan facilities are secured by comprehensive legal and commercial mortgages on all the
assets of OQ Methanol . The syndicated facilities agreements contain certain general and project
undertakings pertaining to, amongst other things, compliance with laws, negative pledges, disposals,
loans or credit, dividends, share redemption and subordinated shareholder loan, financial indebtedness,
merger, change of business and acquisitions, The new syndicated loan facility was obtained torefinance
the old term loan facility, repayment of loans provided by the Shareholders and fo fund Ammeonia
Project Costs.
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{(vi) Takamul Investment Company SAQC
{a} Long term borrowings
2020 2019
RO000 RO 000
Term loans 99,668 98,970
Less: deferred financing costs - (5)
99,668 98,965
Less: current portion of term ioan (2,353) (148)
97,315 08,817

Oman Alumininm Rolling Company LLC (OARC)

In 2011, the company obtained syndicated term loan facilities from commercial banks in Oman for
an amount of US§ 193 million (RO 74.3 million) [US Dollar base facility and Omani Rial base
facility]. Further, in 2011 the company obtained working capital facilities denominated in US Dollar
amounting to USS§ 65 million (RO 25 million) and Omani Rial denominated facilities amounting to
US§ 7.8 million (RO 3 million).

Considering the liquidity position of the Company, the commercial lfenders have restructured the
term loan facilities of the Company on 4 November 2018 and provide an additional term loan facility
of USE 58.6 million towards repayment outstanding amount under existing working capital facility.
Further the repayment dates and interest rates have also been restructured as detailed below. The
management has assessed the impact of modification as substantial and accordingly derecognized
the old facility and recognized the new facility. Further the deferred finance costs have been charged
to profit or loss account.

interest
The term loan facilities bear variable and fixed interest rates as follows:

US Dollar denominated facility and standby facility bears variable interest rate at US$ Libor plus
margin of 3 % (2019: US$ Libor plus margin of 3%) and mandatory costs, if any.

Omani Rial denominated facility bears fixed interest rate:

= for the first twelve months following the first drawdown date at a rate of 4.5 %6 (2019: 4.5%) per
annum; and

o for each subsequent twelve-month period, the rate notified by the Facility Agent to the company
prior to the commencement of such twelve-month period, provided such rate would not be less
than 4.5% per annum.
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)

{vi} Takamul Investment Company SAQOC (continued)
Repayment schedule
The loans are repayable in 20 semi-annual instalments commencing from the first repayment date
of 30 June 2021. Prior to restructuring, the loans were repayable in 18 semi-annual instalments
commencing from earlier of 15 October 2016 or 30 months from the commercial operation date.
Commitment and other fees
Under the terms of the credit facilities, the company is required to pay commitment fees,
arrangement fee, security agent fee and facility agent fee. These are considered as costs of
borrowings.
Security
The company has created a commercial mortgage on all the assets and also assigned its rights on all
the insurance proceeds related to project assets in favour of the lenders as a security against the

borrowings.

(b) Short-term borrowings

2020 2019

ROG0B0 RO™000

Loan against trust receipfs - 208
Bank overdrafts 52 161
52 369

Oman Alumininm Rolling Company LLC [OARC)

The company had an overdraft outstanding as of 31 December 2020 of RO 0.77 million (2019 - RO
Nil) carrying interest at 4.5% per annum,

The company has created a commercial mortgage on all the assets and also assigned its rights on all
the insurance proceeds related to project assets in favour of the lenders as a security against the
borrowings.

Sohar Paper Cores LLC {SPC)

The borrowings comprise of overdraft and loans against trust receipts obtained from a local
commercial bank at commercial rates. The interest rates are subject to re-negotiation with bank
during the renewal of the credit facilities, which generally takes place on an annual basis.
Borrowings are secured by the commercial morigage over the company’s assets, assignment of
insurance over the assets financed and corporate guarantee of the parent company. The facilities
agreement contains certain restrictive covenants which, if violated could permit the bank to cancel
or reduce the facilities granted.
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27.

(vii)

Loans and borrowings (continued)

0Q Gas Networks SAQOC

The Group entity, QQ Gas Netwarks SAOC (OQ GN) had obtained the foliowing syndicated terin
loan facilities:

2020 2019

RO RO

Term loan-1 85,052 423,522

Term loan-H 301,768 -

386,820 423,522

Less: unamortized transaction cost (3,319 {1,342)

At 31 December 383,501 422,180
The unamortized transaction cost is as follows:

At Jamuary 1,342 1,787

Additions during the year 4,878 847

Amortized during the year {2,101) {1,292)

At 31 December 3,319 1,342

Term loan

During the year 2018, the Company had obtained an unsecured syndicated term loan facility
{(“syndicate facilities”) in the aggregate maximum antount of OMR 423 .5 million (equivalent to USD
1,100 million) under a facilities agreement dated November 2018 (“the Facilities Agreement”). The
facility is obtained to pay for the acquisition of assets from GOSO, repayment of shareholder loan
and fo fund ongoing capital projects under construction. The term loan facility is unsecured and
bears interest at LIBOR rates plus applicable margins.

In February 2020, the Company has obtained a seven-year U.5.8 800 million syndicated loan facility
and used most of the proceeds {o repay OMR 304 million {equivalent to USD 791 million) under
this facility. In September 2020, out of the ouistanding term loan facility of OMR 119 million, the
Company repaid OMR 34 million on the original repayment date of November 2020 and extended
the maturity of the remaining OMR 85 million until November 2021.

The management intends to re-finance the remaining of the 2018 term toan facility through a long-
term bond before its settlement date.

Term loan II

On 24 February 2020, the Company entered into a seven-vear U.5.8 800 million (OMR equivalent
308 million) syndicated loan facility. The Term Loan is unsecured and is repayable in 14 semi-
annual unequal instalments commencing frony 24 August 2020 and carries an interest rate of LIBOR
rate plus applicable margins. The proceeds from the Term Loan II has been used to partially settle
Term Loan-1. The Company is not subject to any financial ratio covenant in refation to this facility,
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)
(viif) Oman Oil Marketing Company SAOG

Term loan facilities availed by Oman Oil Marketing Company SAOG, under credit facilities
agreements with a commercial bank are detailed below:

2020 2019
RO’000 RO000
Current portion - 578

These loans are denominated in Rial Omani and represent facitities obtained from a local bank, for
the purpose of construction of filling stations. These loans are unsecured and carry interest at
commercial rates (2019 - same terms and conditions). The loans were Tully repaid during 2020.

(ix} OQRPI

RO'000 RO'000

Term loan I 865,954 943,332
Term loan I} 273,600 327,600
Term loan ITF 67,874 75417
Term loan [V 1,412,969 1,443,624
Term loan V 21,080 21.000
Term loan V1 163,104 168,248
Working capital loan facilities 173,295 100,126
2,977,196 3,079,347

Less: deferred financing costs relating to term loan facility (90,536) {92.788)
2,886,660 2,986,559

Less: current portion of term loan facilities {435,448} (174.885)

2451212 2,811,674

Term loan 1

OQ RP1 has entered into a long-term: facility agreement dated 30 April 2014 with various commercial
banks and export credit agencies amounting to USD 2,850 million. The new term loan was utilized
partly to repay in full the previous outstanding term loans of ORPC and OFF on 30 June 2014 and the
remaining USD 1,819 million was availed for financing the Sohar Refinery Improvement Project
(SRIP).
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27.  Loans and bormwings (continued)
(ix) OQRpI (continued)
Interest on new fernt loans

The loan caryies interest at LIROR plus margin for the following facility:

®  Commercia) Facility
¢  K-EXim Facility
®  SACE Facility

¢ K-Sure Facility

®  K-Exim Guaranteed Facility
¢ Atradius Covered Facility

®  UKEF Covered Facility

®  Euler Hermes Facility

With the exception of Commercia] and K-EXIM covered Facilities, the above margins are fixed up to
the first repayment date (which ig defined as May 2019) and subsequently the interest rate will pe
restated as per the markot rate.

For the K-EXTM Facilities, the marging will change as follows:

®  Fixed margin from 30 Aprit 2014 to byt excluding third anniversary of the FRD; and then
*  Fixed margin from and including third anniversary of FRD to but excluding sixth anniversary of
the FRI); and then :

Interest is payable semiannually. If the Subsidiary fails to bay any due balances ag pet the facility
agreements, then interest wil] be accrued on the overdue amount at 29, above the rate,
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27.

(ix)

Loans and borrowings (continued)

0Q RPi {contfinued)

Repayients

The loans are repayable in semi-annual instalments starting from May 2019, The maturity profile of
the term loan is as follows:

2420 2019
RO000 RO000

Amount due:
Less than 1 year 183,933 77,376
From 1 to 2 years 213,690 94,169
From 2 to 5 years 364,272 318,505
Over 5 vears 193,823 453,283
955,718 943,333

Fair value

The term loan facility carries an interest rate which varies with market rates, and therefore the fair
value of the loan approximates its carrying value.

Support

The loan is supported by standby equity via an equity subscription, share retention and subordination
agreement signed by the shareholders.

Term loan il

On 18 May 2015, OQ RP1 entered in to a corporate loan agreement for the amount RO 350.0 mitlion
(USD 9090 million) in order to meet the working capital needs of the OQ RPI group, The purpose of
the foan is to support its subsidiaries. At 31 December 2020, the Group Company had drawn RO 350.0
million {USD 909.0 million) and had repaid RO 15.4 million (USD 40.0 million).

Interest

The loan carries fixed interest for the first 36 months and will be subsequently reviewed.

Interest is payable semi-annually. If OQ RPI fails fo pay any amount payabie by it under the facility
agreement, the interest will be accrued on the overdue amount at 2% above the rate.
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27. Loans and borrowings {continued)
(ix) OQ RPI (continued)
Term loan IT {continued)

Repayments

The loan is repayable in semi-annual instalments starting from June 2019 and the maturity profile of
the term loan is as follows:

2020 2019
RO000 RO000

Amount due:
Less than 1 year 54,600 74,159
From 1 to 5 years 218,400 262,641
Over 5 years - 57,152
273,000 393,952

Loan Finance Covenant
= Total Borrowing to Total Equity

% As long as any amount is outstanding under the Finance Documents, the ratio of Total
Borrowing to Total Equity shall at all titne not exceed 3:1;

4 The Borrower shall on each Calculation Date demonstrate to the Agents satisfaction that it is
in Compliance with the ratio of Total Borrowings to Total Equity;

% For the avoidance of doubt, any sharcholder Joan to the Borrower (unless expressly
subordinated to the amount outstanding at any time under the Facility) shall form part of Total
Borrowings for the above ratio.

¢  Debt to Equity Ratio

The Debt Service Coverage Ratio shall not be less than [.2:1 for any Calculation Period,
commencing from 31 December 2019,

On 19 April 2019, the bank and Group Company amended certain clauses of the contract which
included removing the limit on financial covenants.

Term loan 1

On 16 December 2014, a Group Company entered inio a long-term loan facility agreement with a
commercial bank with the purpose to support the MSPP project. At 31 December 2020, RO 67.8
million (USD 176.1 million) has been utilized and during the year the Group entity had repaid RO 7.5
million (USD 19.6 million). The loan is denominated in US Dollars.

Interest

The loan carries interest at LIBOR plus margin per annuim
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)

(ix) OQ RPI (continued)

Term loan IH {continued)

Repaviments

The repayment of loan is in 24 equal instalments on which an amount reduces the outstanding
aggregated loan amount by an amount equal to 1/24 of all the loan borrowed at the last day of the
availability period. The first payment is 6 months from the last day of availability period or from the
praject completion date which is the earliest.

2020 2019
RO’G00 RO000

Amount due:
Less than 1 year 7,542 7,542
From 1 to 2 years 7.542 7,542
From 2 to 5 years 22,625 22,625
Over 5 years 30,167 37,708
67,876 75,417

Loar Finance Covenant

L]

Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio

*
e

4+
-

Starting from a date falling 6 (six) months after the MSPP Project Completion Date and for as
long as any amount is owing by the Borrower to the Finance Parties under the Finance
Documents, the Borrower shall ensure that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio at all times shall
not be less than 1.2:1;

The Debt Service Coverage Ratio shall be calculated on each Test Date starting from a date
falling 6 (six) months after the MSPP Project Completion Date until all amounts owing by the
Borrower to the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents are paid in full.

Debt to Equity Ratio

For as long as any amount is owing by the Borrower to the Finance Parties under the Finance
Documents, the Borrower shall ensure that the Debt-to-Equity Ratio shall not exceed a ratio
of 70:30;

The Debt-to-Equity Ratio shall be caleulated on each Test Date until all amounts owing by the
Borrower fo the Finance Parties under the Finance Documents are paid in full.
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27.  Loans ang borrowings (continued)
(ix) 0QRPpI {continued)

Term loan 1V

term Joan is availed for fimancing the Iiwa Plastics Industrial Complex (LPIC) project. At 31
December 2020, RO 52,701.1 million (USD 136,850.4 million) [2019:-R0O 1,143.6 million (USD

2020 2019

ROG00 RO000

Convmercial Facility 521,086 546,842
Atradius Covered Facility 219,598 225,669
K-Sure Covered Facility 112,422 115,530
SACE Covered Facility 314,782 308,217
UKEF Covered Facility 58,834 60,461
K-EXIM Facilities Direct 94,435 97,045
K- Exim Covered Facility 40,472 40,971
Euler Hermes Facility 51,346 48,889
1,412,969 1,443,624

Interest on new term loans
The loan carries interest at LIBOR plus margin for the following facility:

° Commercial Facility

o Atradius Facility

e K-Sure Facility

e SACE Facility

e UKEF Facility

® K-EXIM Facility

° K-EXIM Covered Facility

° Euler Hermes Facility
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)
(ix) OQ RPI (continued)
Term loan FV (continued)
With the exception of Commercial Facility, the above margins are fixed up to the first repayment date
(which is defined as the earlier of (i) the first date after the Actual Completion Date; and (ii) 15 June
2020} and subsequently the interest rate will be restated as per the market rate,
For the Commercial Facility, the margins will change as follows:
e 3 March 2016 to and including Scheduled Completion Date (SCI3); and then
e from and excluding SCD to and including fourth anniversary of the SCD; and then

s from and excluding fourth anniversary of SCD to and including eighth anniversary of the SCD;
and then

¢ from and excluding eighth anniversary of SCD until the Discharge Date.

Interest is payable semiannually, If the subsidiary fails to pay any due balances as per the facility
agreements, then interest will be acerued on the overdue amount at 2% above the rate.

Repayments
The loans are repayable in semi-annual instalments starting from the earlier of (i) the first date after

the Actual Completion Date; and (ii) 15 June 2020, hence has been classified as non-current at the
staterment of financial position. The maturity profile of the term loan is as follows:

2020 2019

RO000 RO000

1 to 2 years 94,911 143,360
2 to 5 years 195,830 316,702
More than 5 years 1,122,228 983,562

1,412,969 1,443,624
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)
(ix) OQ RPI (continued)

Term loan 1V (continued)

Fair value

The terrn loan facilities carry an interest rate which varies with market rates, and therefore the fair value
of the loan approximates its carrying value,

Support

The loan is supported by standby equity via an equity subscription, share retention and subordination
agreement signed by the sharehoiders.

Term loan V
On 10 April 2017, OQ RPI entered in to an Islamic Facility "Wakala Investment" agreement for an
amount of RO 21.0 million (USD 54.5 million) in order to develop a petroleum coke storage facility

within Sohar Refinery complex. At31 December 2020, the Group company had drawn RO 21.0 million
(USD 54.5 million) [2019: RO 21.0 million (USD 54.5 million)].

Tenor
7 years (2 years availability period, 2 years moratoriom and 3 years repayment).
Expected profit rate reset mechanism

Al lzz Islamic Bank will use its current one-year wakala deposit investment rate plus margin to
determine the new profit rate for the new run period.

Floor expected wakala profit rate to remain at 5.5% in case the new wakala profit rate comes up lower
than fixed rate. :

Expected profit rate

The Group expects fixed profit rate per annum fo be fixed for the first one year and reset annually
thereafter as per expected profif rate reset mechanism.

Repayment

Repayment mode will be based on "end of year installment”. Repayment of principle amount to be
over 3 annual instalments as below:

e End of 5th year (2022) RO 4.0 million
s  End of 6th year (2023) RO 6.0 million
+ End of 7th year {2024) RO 11.0 million
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27. lL.ocans and borrowings (continued)
(ix) OQ RPI (continned)
Term loan V {confinued)

Profit component will be accrued during the availability period of 2 years and will be due for settlement
af the end of first quarter of the 3rd year. After availability period, profit to be serviced on quarterly

basis,
2020 2019
ROG00 RO000
2 to 5 years 4,000 10,000
More than 5 vears 17,000 11,000
21,600 21,000

Term loan V1

On 2 August 2019, a subsidiary of the Group has entered into a long-term loan facility agreement with
a commercial bank for the amotmt of RO 173.3 miliion (USD 450.0 million) in order to refinance the
old OQ RPI Aromatics LLC loan. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the foan has been fully
utilized and the Group entity had repaid RO 5.1 million (USD 13.2 million).

Interest

This carries interest at a variable rate as given for the below periods:

a) From the date of this Agreement 2 August 2019 and ending 30 Months after the date of this
Agreement

b} From the day after the end of the period in point {a) ending on the Initial Termination Date.
Repayments

The classification: of the term loans based on the remaining period to maturity from the reporting date

is as follows:
2020 2019
RO600 RO000
Less than 1 year 5,147 5,147
1 to0 2 years 6,932 0,932
2 to § years 144,020 156,173

156,099 168,252
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27. Loans and borrowings (continued)

(ix) OQ RPI (continued)

(x}

Term loan VI (continued)
Working Capital lean facilities

A subsidiary of the Group entity renewed its working capital facility agreement with a commeretal
bank as per agreement dated 28 February 2019 whereby the amount available to draw down was
increased to RO 173.3 miilion (USD 450 million) valid for 24 months.

Interest
Interest js payable at LIBOR plus agreed margin.

Financial covenants

The Group entity is required to comply with the Debt Service Cover Ratio of 113, maximum
gearing ratio of 4 and current ratio of 1:1, associated with the term loan as at 31 December
2020. The Group entity obtained a waiver of the breach of the covenant in for the calculation
period ending 31 December 2020.

Oman Oil Facilities Development Company LLC

OQLPG
2020 2019
RO000 RO'0O00
At 1 January 154,050 118,586
Loan obtained during the year 20,024 75,464
Repayments during the year (2,146} -
At 31 December 211,928 194,050
Unamortised transaction cost (3,974) (4,102}
Carrying amount at 31 December 207,954 189,948
Syndicated facility

The Group entity has syndicated long-term loan facilities (“syndicate facility”) from the consortium
of the financial institutions in the aggregate maximum amount of RO 246.41 million (2019: RO
246.41 million) under a facilities agreement dated 17 May 2017 (“the Facilities Agreement™).

Facilities repayments

The aggregate amount of the term loan facility and standby term loan facility is repayable in 24
semi-annual installments. Repayment under the term loan facility will commence from 31 December
2020.

Interest
The term loan facility and standby term loan facility bear interest at US LIBOR rates plus
applicable margins (2019: US LIBOR rates plus applicable margins).
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27.
(x)

(xi)

Loans and borrowings (continued)

Oman Oil Facilities Development Company LLC (continued)
OQLPG feontinned)

Security

The syndicated loan facilities are secured by comprehensive legal and commercial mortgages on all
the assets of the Group entity. The NGSA waterfall mechanism ensures priority rights of lenders on
revenue. The Government further secures the lenders right if the Group entity is unable to meet the
obligations whereby full liability transferred to the Government,

Covenants

The syndicated facility agreement contains certain general and project covenants pertaining to,
amongst other things, project finance ratios, liquidation and merger, entering inte material new
agreements, negative pledges, change of business, loans and guarantees. The syndicated loan facility
was obtained to finance the total construction cost of the LPG plant, which is to be shared between
the bank creditors and the Company’s shareholders in the ratio of 77.5 % and 22.5 %0 (2019: 77.5%
and 22.5%), respectively.

Oman Tank Terminal Company LLC
The Group entity has signed a facilities agreement dated § April 2020 (“the Facilities Agreement™),
expiring 10 years from the date of the agreement, to draw upon financing to construct and develop

the Crude Handling Facilities. The aggregate maximum amount of USD 350.0 million is made
available under the facilities agreement. At 31 December 2020 RO 50.4 million (USD 127.8 million)

has been drawn.
Facilities repayments

The foan is repayable in 14 semi-annual instalments and a balloon payment on the termination date.
The repayment commences from earlier of April 2023 or 12 months from the commercial operation
date of Duqm Refinery.

Interest
The term loan bears interest at US LIBOR rates plus applicable margins.
Covenants

The bank will only be obliged to make a loan available to the Borrower if the Debt to Equity Ratio
is and will not be more than 76:24. The Company can only pay dividends if its debt service cover
ratio is equal to or more than 1:1.

Other than those disclosed above there are no other further covenant breaches during the year.
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28. Lease liabilities
2020 2019
RO’G00 RO 000
Gross lease liability related to right-of-use assets 278,806 287,628
Future finance charges on finance leases {98,162) (99.,394)
Present value of lease liabilities 180,644 188,234
As at 1 January 188,235 -
On adoption - 201,126
Addition during the year 33,664 9.475
Interest charged 6,310 9,110
Terminations (698) -
Payment of lease habilities (46,867 (31,477
As at 31 December 180,644 188,234
29. Employees’ end-of-service benefits
2020 2019
RO’G00 RO’000
At T January 70,353 58,238
Accrued during the year 14,296 16,353
End-of-service benefits paid (7,045) (4,438)
At 31 December 77,604 70,353

i Oman Oil Holding Ewrope BV

OOHE provide retirement benefits for most of their employees, either directly or by contributing to
independently administered funds. The manner in which these benefits are provided varies
according to the legal, fiscal and economic conditions of each country. The benefits are generally
based on the employees' remuneration and years of service. The obligations relate both to existing
retirees’ pensions and to pension entitlements of future retirees. Group companies provide
retirement benefits under defined contribution and/or defined benefit plans. The defined benefit
obligations are basically regulated by "Ordnung der betrieblichen Zusatzversorgung". Benefit
payments depend on the pensionable income. The monthly payment is between 11.5% and 15% of
that part of the pensionable income that exceeds the income threshold in the German statutory
pension insurance. Condition precedent to receive the benefit payments is leaving the company at
the age of 63 (normal case} or at the age of 60 (early retirement). In addition, the pension scheme
also provides benefits in the case of incapacity and for surviving dependants. The adjustment of the
regular benefit payments is made in accordance with § 16 of the German Company Pension Act
(Betriebsrentengesetz).



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
113

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

29. Employees’ end-of-service benefits (continued)

i) Oman Oil Holding Europe B.V (continued)

These defined benefit plans expose OOHE to actuarial risks, such as fongevity risk, currency risk and
interest rate risk.

The actuarial valuations using the projected unit credit method per [AS 19 were undertaken using
the following assumptions:

2020 2019
Discount rate 0.60% 0.90%
Projected salary increase 2.50% 2.50%
Projected pension increase 1.75% 1.75%
The actuarial losses recognised in separately in Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income {2,935) (4,594)

Sensitivity analysis 2020

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding
other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown

below.
RO 000's
Defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2020 39,283
Increase Decrease
Discount rate (0.50% points) 35,583 43,586
Projected salary (0.50% points) 39,553 39,032
Projected pension (0.50% points) 42,525 36,396
39. Provision for site restoration and abandonment cost
2820 2019

RO’000 RQO000

At | January 113,392 133,127
Additions / (reversals) - net 13,186 32,273
De-recognition of site restoration cost - {58,737)
Unwinding of discount 8,272 6,729

At 31 December 134,850 113,392




0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
114

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

30. Provision for site restoration and abandonment cost (continued)

The Group makes full provision for the future cost of site restoration and abandonment oil and gas
assets by discounting the future expected cash flows at a pretax rate that reflect current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to the liability. The site restoration and
abandonment provision represent the present value of site restoration and abandonment costs
relating to oil and gas assets, which are expected to be incurred up to the point when the producing
oil and gas assets are expected to cease operations. These provisions have been created based on
the Group’s internal estimates.

Assumptions based on the current economic environment have been made, which management
believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These estimates are
reviewed regularly to take into account any material changes to the assumptions, However, actual
decommissioning costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary
decommissioning works required that will reflect market conditions at the relevant time.

Furthermore, the timing of decommissioning is likely to depend on when the fields cease to produce
at economically viable rates. This, in turn, will depend upon future oil and gas prices, which are
inherently uncertain. The discount rate used in the calculation of the provision as at 31 December
2020 were in range from 6.67% to 8.09% (2019: 4% to 10%). The change in discount rate resulted
in an additional provision of RO 16.54 million as at 31 December 2020,

31. Related party transactions and balances
Related parties represent associated companies, shareholder, directors and key management personnel
of the Group, and companies over which they are able to exert significant influence. Pricing policies
and ferms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s Management.

The aggregate value of transaction with related parties is as follows;

2026 2019

RO 6060 RO 000
Purchases
- Ministry of Energy and Minerals and Ministry of Finance 2,325,055 2,551,961
-~ Other common control entities 191,043 85,719
Revernie
- Ministry of Energy and Minerals 162,477 149,353
- Associates
- Other common control entities 16,339 42,368
Inferest expense
- Other common control entities 271 95
Board setting fee 149 38

Directors’ remuneration 360 214
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31. Related party transactions and balances (continued)

Amount due to related parties — current

Ministry of Finance

Ministry of Energy and Minerals

Other entities under common ownership
Takatuf
Others

Amount due o related parties — non-current
Ministry of Finance
CUC (Joint Venture partner)

Amount due from related parties — non-current
Sohar Aluminium Company LLC (SAC)

KazMunai Teniz Company {Joint Venture partner)

CUC, DPC and Amin {Joint Venture partner)
OQ8 (Joint Venture partner)
Others

Amount due from related parties — non-current
Ministry of Finance
MEM
0Q8
Associates
Due from MPC and OQ8
Others

1s
2020 2019
RO00  RO000
2122
222,937 p
38,500 34’83
21,241 1.077
] 1252
1,871 589
284,549 250,042
9,242 9,271
4,198 ]
13,440 9271
46,886 46,583
5,100 3,100
62,037 2,668
2,457 -
556 -
117,036 54,351
5069 236,462
38,433 .
. 3933
13,310 12,198
- 50
1,310 180
50,002 252.823

Interest on SAC loan is charged at an annual rate equal to the lowest rate of interest payable on the
Phase | Senior Debt less a discount of 5 bp as approved by the shareholders’ representatives, There

is nno fixed repayment schedule.

Amounts due from related parties are unsecured. The loan does not have a fixed repayment schedule
and the management does not expect repayments in the next twelve months. Accordingly, these

amounts are classified as non-current.
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31. Related party transactions and balances (continued)
The remuneration of key management of the group during the year was as follows:
2028 2019
ROG’009 RO000
Short-term benefits 6,688 11,060
Employees’ end of service benefits 347 1,215
As aresult of Group’s realignment of its operating strategies, the Integration Leadership Team (ILT)
was constituted at the start of the group integration process, which consists of representatives of all
group Business Lines and Functions. The members of ILT were considered as key management
personnel for the purpose of this note.
32.  Other Habilities ~ non-current

2020 2019

RO’H00 RO000

Deferred payment obligation 3,012 2,962
Deferred income 2,116 3,405
Payable to the joint operator (i) 15,508 19,714
Other payables 4,837 4,126
25,493 30,207

During 2014, the Group entity OQ RPI and Compaiifa Logistica de Hidrocarburos CLH, S.A.
("CLH?) set up a joint operation company, OQ Logistics LLC (OLC) with a equity share ownership
of 60% and 40%, respectively.

0OQ Logistics LLC purpose was to, at its cost and expense, design, develop, finance (including any
third party financing), construct and implement, acquire or have, on its behalf, designed, developed,
constructed and implemented the Muscat Sohar Pipeline Project (“MSPP”).

The contractual arrangement provides OQ RPI and CLH rights to control OQ Logistics LLC as the
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous resolutions to be passed at a duly convened
meeting of the board of directors. CLH will provide staff members who shall tocate in Oman for the

operation of the OQ Logistics LLC,

Accordingly considering the requirements of [FRS 11, it has been concluded that the joint
arrangement between OQ RPI and CLH is a joint operation. In accordance with IFRS 11 the joint
operator recognises its:

¢ assets, including its share of any assets held jointly
e liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly
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32. Other liabilities — non-current

Shareholders’ agreement specifies minimum period of stay of CLH within the share capital of OLC
as 5 years post commissioning of the MSPP project which happened in March 2019, This will open
an "option period” of six months during April to September 2023 where either OQ RPI can activate
a call option or CLH can activate a put option,

At the moment of execution of the call option, OQ RPI will pay to CLH an amount in cash that
ensures that the equity invested by CLH compared to the annual dividends received by CLH provides
a profitability of 15% (per annum). Similarly, in the event of CLH exercising a put option, OQ RPI
will guarantee a profitability of 12% (per annum) return to CLH on its equity invested in GLC.

in accordance with the contractual agreement, OQ RPI and CLH collectively have rights to it’s
respective net assets of OLC. Considering the nature of the logistic assets they can only be used by
OQ RP1I as it the sole refinery in Sultanate of Oman and in accordance with the Government mandate
the marketing companies can procure oil only from OQ RPL

Therefore O RPI has the rights to substantially all of the economic benefits of the assets of the joint
arangement. OQ RPI will pay rentals to OLC for using logistics assets. The rental paid by OQ RP1
to OLC would be the only source of cash flows for the OLC, which will be utilized by OLC to pay
its operating expenses and bank debt. In accordance with IFRS 11, OQ RPI shall recognise all assets
and liabilities to the extent of its holding including the funds provided by CLH would also need to
be presented as liabitities of OQ RPL '

Summearised financial information of the Group’s share of assets and liabilities which have
been included in consolidated statement of financial position are set out below:

2020 2619

RO00 RO000

Non-current assets 117,405 123,088
Current assets 10,746 10,997
Current liabilities {12,007) (14,019)
Non-current fabilities {63,507) (70,713)
52,637 49,353

CLH Share in OQ Logistics LLC {40%) (22,839) (19,714)
Investment by OQ RP1 in OQ Logistics LLC (60%) 29,798 29,639

it is possible but not probable that CLH will activate their put option in OLC. The possible
commitment arising from the future activation of the put option, based on the profitability of OLC
from inception till December 2020, gives rise to a contingent liability up to RO 35.07 million (USD
91.16 million) on option exercise date.
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33. Trade and other payables
2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000
Trade payables 571,929 748,090
Accrued expenses 332,036 344,293
Other payable 204,515 139,745
1,108,480 1,232,128

34, Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from coniracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services
over time and af a point in time in the following major product lines.

2020 2019
RO000 RO000
Products transferred at o point in time
Sale of petroleum products 4,091,132 5,793,949
Products and services fransferred over a period of time
Services 302,157 287,950
Others 1,060,560 1,248,913

5,393,789 7,330,812

Cost of sales

Cost of materials 4,318,325 5,923,167
Depreciation charged (Note 6) 450,279 475,168
Other overheads 373,567 439 822

5,142,171 6,838,157

Information about the geographical location of the revenue is disclosed in note 47,

35, Investment (loss) / income

Dividend income on investments 11,730 23,886
Net loss on disposal of investments (10,166} 2,422
Changes in fair value of investments (66,445) {17,345)

(64,881) 8,963
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36. Share of result of equity accounted investments
2020 2019
RO’000 RO000
Share of results of associates {note 11) (1,494) 22,531
Share of results of joint ventures (note 12) (208,781) 11,615
(210,275) 34,146
37. Other income / expenses - net
Lease income (note 14) 24,996 25,646
Recovery against liquidated damages - 19,255
Reversal of site restoration provision - 21,000
Other operating income 22,119 22,432
47,115 88,333
38. Administrative expenses
2020 2019
RO’ 084 RO000
Staff related expenses 103,898 88,481
Depreciation and amortization (Note 6) 47,821 32,441
Professional fees 25,595 19,629
Exploration expenditure, including write offs 3,116 6,773
Selling and distribution expenses 15,495 17,914
Traveling expenses 2,500 6,974
Corporate social responsibility {CSR} expenses 4,091 7,159
Research and development 3,393 3,763
T expenses 0,810 4,683
Insurance costs 8,653 4,827
Repair and maintenance 8,426 20,644
Other administration expenses 25,656 50,365
255,454 263,653
Staff related expenses of the Group included in administrative expenses comprise the following:
Wages and salaries 79,724 53,300
Performance bonus 4,968 10,686
Contributions to defined contribution scheme 8,383 5,537
Other 10,823 18,938

103,898 88.481
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39. Impairment losses - (released) / charged - net

40.

Impairment of investment in associates (Note 11)

Net impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 6)

Impairment of intangible assets (Note 9)

Net (release) / charge of impairment relating to imvestiment in oil

exploration and production assets (Note 7)

Impairment of investinents — fair value through profit and Joss (Note

16)

Impairment release of other non-current assets (note 18)

Impairment of mventory
Impairment charge/ (release) of other assets (i)

120

2020 2019
RO’000 RO000
3,886 529
1,138,859 56,451
40,903 -
152,534 (43,974)
3,880 -

- (21,245)

134 .
3,807 (26,108)
1,344,003 (34,347)

The impairment charge for the year includes RO 3.8 million of allowance of expected credit
losses. Release of last year impairment charge mainly represents amounts payable to JV partner

in OPCL who has carried the Group's share of exploration cost of RO 26.96 million.

Net finance cost

Finance income
Interest income

Finance expense
Interest expense on borrowings

Unwinding of discount on site restoration provision
Interest on lease liabilities
Other finance charges

Foreign exchansge gains / losses) — net

Realised exchange loss
Unrealised exchange (loss) gain

Net finance cost

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000
16,664 20,023
122,671 149218
8,272 6,729
6,311 7,232
4,440 11,717
141,694 174,896
(1,225) (77
(1,374) 1,285
(2,599) 1,108
127,629 153,765
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41,

Income tax

Taxation in respect of the Group’s taxable entities represents the aggregate of the Omani and foreign
income taxes applicable to the Parent Company and subsidiary companies in accordance with the
relevant fiscal regulations. The fax rate applicable to the Group companies operating in the Sultanate
of Oman is 15% (2019: 15%). The tax authorities in the Sultanate of Oman follow the legal entity
concept. There is no concept of group taxation in Oman. Accordingly, each legal entity is taxable
separately.

For the purpose of determining the taxable result for the year, the accounting results of the individual
Group entities have been adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes include items relating
to both income and expense. The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing
tax laws, regulations and practices.

Management believes that additional taxes, if any, assessed in respect of the open fax years of the
Parent Company and its subsidiaries would not be material to the Group’s financial position at
31 December 2020 or to its results for the year then ended.

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000
Current liabilities
Current year 13,321 13,198
Prior year 1,315 1,424
14,636 14,622
2620 2020
RO000 RO000
Profit or loss
Current tax expense
Current year 12,281 18,155
Prior year 1,882 1,013
14,163 19,168
Deferred tax benefit (728} {9,406)
Tax expense for the year 13,435 9,762
Movement in net deferred tax (fiability) / asset
At | January (118,045) {126,229)
Movement during the year (statement of profit or loss) 728 0,406
Movement during the year (staterment of other comprehensive income) (4,264) 6,778

(113,581)  (110,045)
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41.

Income tax (continued)

The deferred tax (liabilities) / assets are aftributable to the following:

Investment in associates

Provisions

Un-realised exchange differences on
loans to related parties

Tax losses of subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment

Others

Investinent in associates

Provisions

Un-realised exchange differences on
loans to refated parties

Tax losses of subsidiaries

Property, pfant and equipment

Others

This is presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Beferred tax liabilities

122

Atl At 31
January December
2020 Movement 2028
RO000 RO000 ROMG
13,322 - 13,322
32,435 (13,807} 18,628
A 2,224 2,224
49,588 16,538 66,126
(221,634) 6,657 {214,977)
16,244 {15,148) 1,896
(110,045) (3,536) {113,581)
Atl At 31
Janunary December
2019 Movement 2019
RO 000 RO000 RO000
12,635 687 13,322
26,119 6,316 32,435
(2,907) 2,907 -
- 49,588 49,588
(210,566) (11,068) (221,634)
48,490 (32,246) 16,244
(126,229} 16,184 (110,045)

2020 2019

ROG00 RO000

36,602 31,696

(150,183 (141,741}

(113,381) {110,043)

The group has not recognised deferred tax assets on carried forward tax fosses, impairment of property,
plant and equipment and fair value changes in derivatives financials instruments in the amount of RO
416.19 million (2019: RO 24.1 million). Un-recognised deferred tax asset of RO 404,19 million (2019:
RO 8.3 million) have no expiry date. Un-recognised deferred tax asset of RO 12.0 millon (2019: RO
14.1 million) and RO 0.95 million (2019: Nil) have carried forward of 5 years and 9 years, respectively.



0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

123
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020
41, Income tax (continued)
2020 2019
RO060 RO 000
{Loss) profit before tax (1,763,065) 241,026
Income tax on Parent and subsidiaries in Oman at 5% (256,972 36,154
Effect of tax in foreign jurisdictions (5,409) (3,618)
Overseas withholding tax credit not available due to excess rates - 871
Tax exempt revenue (22,719) (43,308)
Under provision in earlier years 5,371 1,493
Unrecognised deferred tax asset 260,467 12,721
Non-deductible expenses 32,698 7,191
Tax expense for the year 13,436 9,762

Parent Company

The income tax assessments for the Parent Company for the years up to 2015 have been completed

by the Secretariat General for Taxation (SGT).

Management is of the opinion that additional taxes, if any, related to the open tax years would not

be significant to the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2020,

Subsidiaries

The tax assessments of subsidiaries are at different stages of completion. Management does not expect

any additional tax liabilities to be incuwrred relating to the open tax years,

For the Netherlands® subsidiaries, the deferved taxes as of the reporting date were caleulated with a tax

rate of 25% (2019: 25%).

Tax rate on Mukhaizna and Block 9 concession

Revenue from certain Exploration Production Sharing Agreements (EPSAs) are taxed at the rate
specified in the relevant EPSA, is excluded from the Group’s income tax expenses and paid by the
Government from their share of profit oil. The tax rate on profit oil and gas from Block 53, Block 9

and Block 61 is 55% (2019: is 55%).

42. Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to the shareholders
of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year as follows:

2020 2019

(Loss) / profit attributable to shareholders (RO'000) (1,716,944} 229,894

Weighted average number of shares for basic and diluted EPS  _3,428,628,924 3,372,059,924

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (RO) (0.501) 0.068
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43.

Contingencies and commitments

The following contingent liabilities have not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statermnents, as it is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from these contingencies;

2020 2019

RG000 RO’000

Letter of credit 06,962 211,727
Performance guarantees and bonds 1,235,340 1,698,292
1,302,302 1,910,019

Capital and expenditure commitments 906,908 1,009,697

Following are the contingent liabilities specific to each Group entity:
OQEP

OQEP has contingent liabilities in respect of claims made on it under certain construction contracts.
It is a part of the normal course of business for contractors to make claims for additional payments
and for the clients to dispute such claims or file counterclaims,

As of 31 December 2020, the Company claim has been settled at RO Nil (2019: RO 16.17 million
FUSD 42 million]) and the liability accrued is Nii (2019: RO Nil). Management does not expect the
ultimate liabilities to differ from the liability accrued.

O0CL
Capital commitments

The capital commitment for Dunga project as per Dunga’s annual work program and approved
budget in 2020 is RO 10.35 million (USD 26.87 million) (2019: RO 7.2 million (USD 18.7 million).

Contingent liabilities

OOCL is a party to various legal proceedings related to business operations, such as property damage
claims and employee claims. OOCL does not believe that pending or threatened claim of these types,
individually or in aggregate, are likely to have any material adverse effect on the OGOCL Branch’s

financial position or results of operations.

0Q RPI

The possible commitment arising from the future activation of the put option by CLH, based on the
profitability of OLC from inception till December 2020, gives rise to a contingent liability up to RO
35.07 million (USD 91,16 million} on option exercise date (Note 32).
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44,

Contingencies and commitments (continued)
0OQ RPI (continued)

Nitrogen supply agreements

OQ RPI Group was having two agreements with ALSIG to supply nitrogen to its plants. During the
year the agreements have been unified under one agreement to all its plants including Aromatics, PP,
Refinery and SRIP. Under the Agreement, OQ RPI undertake to purchase from ALSIG all its
nitrogen requirements from the first cubic meter of nitrogen required by all its plants up to the NCQs
set forth in the agreement. Quantity to be purchase maximum at 9,720 normal meiric cube per hour,

Contingent liabilities

The OQ RPI Group have ongoing trial for various labor cases filed. The management is of the view
that no material losses will arise in respect of the legal claim at the date of these consolidated financial
statements.

Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

e Commodity price risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management
of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial
statements.

Management has overal] responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework. The Board has entrusted the Management with the responsibility of
development and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and its
compliance with them.

The Group Internal Audit oversees how manageiment monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of
risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Board,

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial

instrument fails fo meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s
receivables from customers and investment securities.
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Financial risk management (continued}
Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account
any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a financial Joss to the Group due
to failure fo discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated below:
2020 2019
Brezk down of financial assets Classification RO’000 RO000
Due from related parties Amortised cost 176,058 307,174
Trade and other receivables Amortised cost 746,852 675,016
Concession receivables Amortised cost 798,764 631,028
Lease receivables Amortised cost 259,348 267,188
Contract assets Amortised cost 146,198 290,268
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost 466,769 567,501
Term deposits Amortised cost 203,331 172,563
Investments ~ at fair value through profit and foss FVTPL 304,279 366,805
Derivatives FVOCI 73,714 75,590
Other non-current assets Amortised cost 13,456 17,355
3,182,769 3,370,488
Contact assets are all arising from Sultanate of Oman. 2020 2019
RO080 RO000
Details of trade receivables by geographic region
Sultanate of Oman 187,487 256,193
Other GCC 161,977 140,900
Other Asian countries 28,935 27,085
Europe and US 77,404 65,183
455,803 489361
Details of trade receivables by type of customer
Retail customers 4,219 7,994
Wholesale customers 451,584 481,367
455,803 489361




0Q SAOC (formerly OMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

44.

Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk {continued)

The ageing trade receivables at the reporting date was:

020

Weighted Reecivables  Imtpairment Ret sarrying

average amgunl
{oss rate

% RO'00D RO 060 RO 000

Not Past dus 0.20% 397,571 793 396676

y § a

Past due |98 days 1.0% 21,151 31 21,523
> = ¥ L

Past doe 91-360 days 19% 16,550 1,362 15,248

More than one vear 3Ha% 20,031 5,968 13,083

435,803 2,201 446,582

Movement in impairment provisions is as follows:

At | January

Provided during the year

Currency translation adjustment
Written off during the year

Reversal during the year

At 31 December

Credit
impaired
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2619

.. Net
Weighted Raceivables Impairrrent counying

averige "
Yoess sate amount
3 RO0H) RO ROT800
6.2% 444,772 91y 443853
0.19% L1418 2% 14,340
331% 27,362 968 26303
93.90% 1609 2,502 a7
489,361 4417 484,944
2020 2019
ROG00 ROG00
4,417 9,373
4,790 -
84 106
- (120)
- (4,942)
9,291 4,417

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables the Group considers any change in the credit
quality of trade receivable from the date the credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting

period.

The Group limits its credit risk with regard to bank deposits by only dealing with reputable banks.
Credit risk s limited to the carrying values of financial assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position. As at 31 December 2020, no impairment allowance is recognised on bank
balances as it is not material {2019: Nil).

Credit
impaired
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Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2020 the status of past due balances of financial assets are as follows:
Carrying Upto 99 Upto 360 Over 365
31 December 2020 amount Not due days days days Total
RO000 RO 000 R{O’00G ROGO0 ROMGO RO000
Gross carrying amonni:
Bue from related parties 176,858 176,058 - - - 176,058
‘Frade and other receivables 746,852 688,321 21,751 16,5560 20,030 746,852
Concession receivables 798,764 198,764 - - - 798,764
Lease receivables 259,348 259,348 - - B 259,348
Contract assets 146,198 146,198 - B - 146,198
Cash and cash equivalents 460,769 460,769 - - - 460,769
Term deposits 203,331 203,331 N - - 203,331
Investments 304,279 304,279 - - - 304,279
Derivatives 73,714 73,714 - - - 73,714
Other non-eurrent assets 13,456 13,436 - - - 13,436
3,182,769 3124438 21,751 16,550 20,030 3,182,769
31 Beeember 2019
Gross carrying amount:
Due from related parties 367,174 307,174 - - - 307,174
Trade and other receivables 673016 030,426 14,418 27,562 2.610 673,016
Concession receivabies 631,028 631,028 - - - 631,028
Lease receivables 367,188 267,188 - - - 207,188
Conizact assels 290,268 290,268 - - - 290,268
Cash and cash equivalents 567,501 567,501 - - - 367,501
Term deposits 172,363 170,655 . 1.908 . 172,563
[nvestments 366,805 366,805 - - . 366,305
Dertvatives 73,590 75,590 . - - 75,590
Other non-current assets 17,355 17,335 - - - 17,355
3,31 488 3,323,990 14,418 29470 1610 3,370,488

The Group has applied the general approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL en it’s financial assets. The expected credit losses on these items by using a PD rating approach
model where interpal ratings is developed which are mapped to determination of probability of
default, based on the external credit rating agencies such as Moody’s. Where the external rating of
a financial instrument is not available, the Group reviews the ability of the counterparty by reviewing
their financial statements and other publicly available information and consider a proxy rating
benchmarking sovereign external rating of the country where customers resides. The expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is not accounted as the amount is not significant except for
trade receivables,
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Financial risk management (continued)
Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient Hquidity to meet its Habilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group limits its liguidity risk by ensuring bank facilities and shareholders’ advances are
available, where required. Liquidity requirements are monitored on a regular basis and management
ensures that sufficient liquid funds are available to meet any commitments as they arise.

All financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost except for certain derivative financial liability,
which are carried at fair value through other comprehensive income and derivatives held for trading
accounted through profit or loss. Details of maturities of financial liabilities and excluding the impact
of netting agreements, are as follows:

More
Carrying 6 months 6to 12 Fto2 2to 5 than 5
31 December 2020 amaunt or less months vears years years
RO000 RO83) RO0) RO000 ROOG) RO000
Leans and borcowings 5,064,647 252,940 629,490 871,593 2,388,027 1,851,326
Lease liability 180,644 30,817 30,819 61,637 180,522 57,489
Other linbilities 25,493 . . 25,493 - -
Due io related parties 297,990 284,549 - 13,440 - .
Trade and other payables 1,108,280 1,108,280 . - - -
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 129,984 60,004 12,367 23,374 24,947 6,030
Total 6,807,038 1,736,680 672,676 995,337 1,593,496 1,914,845
31 December 2019
Loans and borrowings 4,772,527 £78.894 636,850 474 880 1,886,050 1,595,844
Lease Habitity 188,234 15,554 15,554 34,218 102,654 20,234
Other liabilities 30,207 9,151 405 699 - 19,952
Due to releted parties 259,313 250,042 9,271 . - -
Trade and other payabies 1,232,128 1,230,861 1,267 - - -
Interest rate swaps used for hadging 103.225 27331 26,324 24,560 16,850 8,160

Totat 6,585,634 1,711,833 689,671 534,366 2,005,354 1,644,210
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Financial risk management (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

Managing interest rate benchmark refarm and assoeciated risks

Overview

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the
replacement of some interbank offered rates (IBORs) with alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred
to as ‘IBOR reform’). The Group has exposures to IBORs on its financial instruments that will be
replaced or reformed as part of these market-wide initiatives. There is uncertainty over the timing
and the methods of fransition in some jurisdictions that the Group operates in. The Group anticipates
that IBOR reform will impact its risk management and hedge accounting, The company’s senior
management monitors and manages the Group’s transition to alternative rates. The committee
evaluates the extent to which contracts reference IBOR cash flows, whether such contracts will need
to be amended as a result of IBOR reform and how to manage communication about IBOR reform
with counterparties. The management reports to the Company’s board of directors on periodic basis
and collaborates with other business functions as needed. It provides periodic reports to management
of interest rate risk and risks arising from IBOR reform.

Perivatives

The Group holds interest rate swaps for risk management purposes which are designated as cash
flow hedging relationships. The interest rate swaps have floating legs that are indexed to USD
LIBOR. The Group’s derivative instruments are governed by coniracts based on the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDAY’s master agreements.

ISDA is currently reviewing its standardised contracts in the light of IBOR reform and plans to
amend certain floating-rate options in the 2006 1SDA definitions to include fallback clauses that
would apply on the permanent discontinuation of certain key IBORs. ISDA is expected to publish
an IBOR fallback supplement to amend the 2006 ISDA definitions and an IBOR faliback protocol
to facilitate multilateral amendments to include the amended floating-rate options in derivative
transactions that were entered into before the date of the supplement. The Group currently plans to
adhere to the protocol if and when it is finalized and to monitor whether its counterparties will also
adhere. Lfthis plan changes or there are counterparties who will not adhere to the protocol, the Group
will negotiate with them bilaterally about including new fallback clauses.
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Hedge accounting

The Group has evaluated the extent to which its cash flow hedging relationships are subject to
uncertainty driven by IBOR reform as at 31 December 2020. The Group’s hedged items and hedging
instruments continue to be indexed to USD LIBOR. The Group applies the amendments to IFRS 9
issued in September 2019 to those hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR reform. Hedging
relationships impacted by 1IBOR reform may experience ineffectiveness atfributable to market
participants’ expectations of when the shift from the existing IBOR benchmark rate to an alternative
benchmark interest rate will oceur. This transition may occur at different times for the hedged item
and hedging instrument, which may lead to hedge ineffectiveness.

The Group’s exposure fo USD LIBOR designated in hedging relationships is RO 5.06 billion
nominal amount at 31 December 2020, representing both the nominal amount of the hedging interest
rate swap and the principal amount of the hedged USD-denominated secured bank loan liability.

Commodity price risk

The Group maintains a relatively low level of exposure to market risk primarily by entering into
offsetting physical or financial instrument contracts whereby the commercial terms of such
transactions are broadly matched. The Group however does hold some imperfectly hedged positions,
subject to certain approved limits. At the reporting date, the Group has open commodity futures and
swap contracts to manage its exposure to expected fluctuations in the prices of crude oil and other
oil products. The Group has provided deposits as margin requirements for these contracts. The Group
uses Value-at-Risk (“VaR”} to measure, monitor and review its exposure to short-term market risk.
VaR is an estimate of the potential loss on a given position or portfolio of positions over a specific
holding period, based on normal market conditions and within a given statistical confidence interval.
The Board of Directors has approved VaR limits through trading mandates granted and regularly
reviews the limits and monitors performance against these lmits. It is recognised that VaR cannot
be relied upon solely to predict the size of potential losses and additional techniques are employed
to monitor market risk. Based upon VaR, taking into account approved limits and other risk
management techniques, the Group’s senior management will determine the need to adjust the
Group’s market risk profile. The 95% trading VaR during the year was:

Group 2020 2019
Average Year End Average Year End
RO000 RO’000 RO*000 RO000

Trading VaR 881 580 638 598

These VaR values are within the limits approved by the Group’s Board of Directors.

The Group’s revenues and cash flows are sensitive to the underlying price of a number of
commedities, including crude oil, refined oil products, petrochemicals, ENG and dry bulk (and related
spreads) which are dependent on a number of factors and on global supply and demand. The Group
is exposed to a relatively low level of commodity price risk because the timing and volumes of
purchase and sale contracts are matched wherever possible. Risks relating to open physical positions
are managed through commedity futures and cleared swaps wherever such contracts are available.
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Equity price risk

The Group trades both physical commodity and financial instrument contracts that are treated as
derivative instruments within the scope of IFRS 9. These contracts are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recorded in the Statements of comprehensive income. Physical dry bulk
contracts are not financial instruments under IFRS 9 and are accounted for as executory contracts,
Changes in fair value of these contracts do not immediately impact profit or equity and as such, the
contracts are not exposed to commodity price risk as defined by IFRS 7: Financial Instruments -
Disclosure.

Equity price risk arises from equity securitics. The Group has maintained the portfolio of
investments. Material investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all
buy and sell decisions are approved by the Board of Directors.

Sensitivity analysis — equity price risk — quoted investinents
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s equity to a 5% change in the

price of its quoted equity holdings, assuming all other variables in particular foreign currency rates
remain constant.

2626 2019

RO000 RO000

Effect on equity 12,795 15,726
Effect on profit or loss 12,795 15,726

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure wili fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign
exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is
denorninated in a foreign currency) and the Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiavies.

The Group financial instruments are consisting of various currencies and the exposure to various
currencies based on notional amounts is as detailed below:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Canndian Canadian
Eure Dolar HUF Euro Txollar HUF
H00 000 G600 000 000 000
Investments at {air value
through profit and loss 202,381 10,000 128,181,471 218,185 10,000 172079235
Cash and bank 112,082 - . 76,823 -
Cither receivables 228,738 - - 127,496 -
Other pavables {727,007) - - (345,681) -

Gross / net exposure {183,636) 140,04 128,181,47¢ 76,823 10,000 172076235
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Currency risk (continued)
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Average Spot Average Spot
rate rate rate rate
Foreign currency
Euro 6.4517 0.4726 0.4271 0.4307
HUF 0.0013 0.0013 0.0013 0.0013
Canadian Dollar 0.296 6.301 (0.2900 0.2900

As the Rial Omani is pegged to US Doilars, management perceive the related currency risk to be
minimal.

A 10% strengthening of the RO against the following currencies at 31 December would have
impacted equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assunes that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant,

Equity Profit and loss account
2020 2026
Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening
RO00 RO’000 ROM000 RO000
Euro {7,990} 7,990 (1,766) 1,706
Canadian Doller 301 (381) - -
HUF 16,636 (16,636} {3,431) 5431
8,947 (8,947) (7,137} 7,137
Equity Profit and loss account
2019 2019
Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening
RO’000 RO000 RO’000 RO000
Euro {10,319) 10.319 486 {486}
Canadian Doller 290 (290) - -
HUF 22,067 (22,067) {1,590} 1,590

12,038 {12,038) (1,104) 1,104
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Interest rate risk

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that between 50 and 70% of its interest rate risk exposure is
af a fixed rate. This is achieved partly by entering into fixed-rate instruments and partly by borrowing
at a floating rate and using interest rate swaps as hedges of the variability in cash flows aifributable
to movements in interest rates. The Group applies a hedge ratio of 1:1.

The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item based on the reference interest rates, tenors, repricing dates and maturities and the
notional or par amounts. 1T a hedging relationship is directly affected by uncertainty arising from
IBOR reform, then the Group assumes for this purpose that the benchmark interest rate is not
altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.

The Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging relationship is expected to
be effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item using the hypothetical
dertvative method.

In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:

-— the effect of the counterparty’s and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the swaps,
which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows attributable to the
change in interest rates; and

-— differences in repricing dates between the swaps and the borrowings.

Hedging relationships that are impacted by IBOR reform may experience ineffectiveness because of
a timing mismatch between the hedged item and the hedging instrument regarding IBOR transition,
For further details, see “Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks’ above.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fived rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and Habilities at fair value through
profit or loss, and the Group has not designated any derivatives as hedging instruments under a fair
value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not
affect profit or loss.
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) profit and
foss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign
currency rates, remain constant.

Profit and loss

100bps 160 bps
increase decrease
RO000 RO’Q00

2020
Interest bearing liabilities 2,750 (2,750)
Financial assets (42) 42
2,708 (2,708)

2019
Interest bearing liabilities 2,613 {2,613)
Financial assets 42 {42)
2,655 (2,655)

The Group may face increased borrowing costs on some of its Group borrowings, should lenders
invoke their rights under standard market disruption clauses (where applicable), if the cost to lenders
of obtaining matching deposits exceeds LIBOR for the relevant cirrency and interest period.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s variable interest-bearing financial
instrument was:

Carrying amount

2020 2019
RO*300 RO000

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 41,578 41,578

Financial liabilities

~Variable financial Habilities 4,770,647 4,423 928
~Variable financial Habilities — Project financing {1,883,600) (1,810,969)
2,887,047 2,612,959

Financial instruments comprise financial assets, financial labilities and derivatives. Financial assets
consist of cash and bank balances, investments, lease receivables, due from related parties and trade
and other receivables. Financial liabilities consist of payables, loans and borrowings and accrued
expenses. Derivatives consist of interest rate swaps contracts.
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44. Financial risk mmanagement (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Secured bank loan

Secured bank loan

Secured bank loan

Secured bank loan

OQ Chemicals - First Lien
B-1

OQ Chemicals - First Lien
B-2

Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured borrowing facility
insecured bank loan
Unsecured bank loan
Linsecured bark loan
Unsecured bank loan

Unsecured bank loan

Currency

usp
usp/
OMR

Usp
UsD
Eure
Uusp
Euro
Ush
usp
OMR
OMR
Usp
Usp
OMR

Unsecured Islamic facilily loan

Unsecured Islamic facility loan

Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Unsecured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan
Secured bank loan

Secured bank loan
Unsecured Working
capital ioan

Secured syndicated loan
facilities

Loan from shareholder

OMR
Usp
OMR
usp
usp
OMR
Usp
Ush

UsSH
UsD

Nominal interest

rate %

Libor + margin
Libor + margin
Libor + margin
Libor + margin

Libor + margin

Libor + margin
1.0% - 4.9%
Libor + margin
Commercial Rate
Libor + margin
Libor + margin
Libor + margin
Libor -+ margin
Libor + margin
Libor + margin
Libor + margin
Commerciat Rate
Liber + margin
4%

Libor + snargin
Libor + margin
Libor + margin

Libor + margin
t ithot + margin
Libor + margin

5%

Year of
maturity

2029

203G

2020-
2028
2024

2024

2024

2021
2029
2020
2021
2021
2022-23
2025
2025
2025
2025
2020
2027
2025
2029
2031
2023
2022

2021

2032
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20620 2019
Carrying Carrying
Fair value amount Fair value amokt
RO000 RO008 RO000 RO000
208,255 204,066 173,295 168,726
99,667 95,667 117,290 99,335
87,479 R7,479 §1,589 81,389
385,100 381,525 385,100 379,500
224,498 223,188 204 591 202,998
173,295 172,048 174,449 172,164
2,239 2,239 2,644 2,657
50,448 50,448 38.462 38,462
53,602 53,602 423,522 422,180
84,902 84,703 - -
301,918 298,798 - -
173,295 173,295 - -
69,318 69,318 - -
9,625 9,625 . -
25,032 25,032 -
35,800 35,080 - -
- - 578 578
865,954 §56,981 943,331 932,726
273,000 270,885 327,600 325,051
61,874 67,308 75,415 74,804
£,412,969 1,334,886 1,443,624 1,364,600
21,000 21,600 21,0600 21,000
163,105 163,105 168,232 168,252
173,295 173,295 100,126 100,126
211,928 207,954 194,050 189948
- - 36,254 26,822
3,172,798 5,004,647 4,905,172 4.772,527
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44,

Financial risk management (continued)
Interest rate risk {continued)

The fair values of the financial instruments, with the exception of certain loans and borrowings carried
at cost are not materially different from their carrying values. Their fair values cannot be determined
in the absence of repayment period.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the
statement of financial position, are as follows:

31-Dec-20 31-Dec-19
Fair value Cf:;:z:;:lgt Fair value C:l;?):;ﬁ
ROG00 RO000 ROOO0 ROGO
I:)]:Sestmems at fair value through profit or 304279 304279 366,805 366,805
Concession receivables 798,764 798,764 631,028 631,028
Lease receivables 259,348 259,348 267,188 258,961
Contract assets 146,198 146,198 250,268 290,268
Temm deposits 203,333 203,331 170,655 172,503
Due from related parties 176,058 176,058 510,998 307,174
Trade and other receivables 746,852 Td46,852 675015 675,016
Cash and Cash equivalents 460,769 460,769 367,501 5367.501
Loans and borrowings (5,172,798) (5.004,647) (4,772,528) (4,772,527}
Due to related parties £297.999) (297,994) {259.313) {259,313}
Other liabilities (25,493) {25,493) (30,208) {30,207}
Perivative financial instruments (56,270) (56,270} (27.633) (303,225)
Trade and other payables {1,108,280) {1,108,280) {£,231,926) {1,232,128)
{3,565,232) {3,457,081) 2,842,157 (3,128,084)

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level | that are observable for the asset or
Hability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (L.e., derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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44. Financial risk management {continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
3 December 2020 31 December 2019
ROOG0 RO'O00 RO RO0GQ0 RO000 Ry 000
Level | Levef2 Level 3 Level | Level 2 Level 3
Investments in equity securilies 255,897 - 48,382 314,512 - 52,2%4
Derivatives held for srading
{financial assets) (note 21) - 13,714 - . 75,590
Derivatives held for trading
{financial liabilities) (rote 21} - (45,414) - - (53,688)
Cash flow hedges (note 21) - {84,370) “ - (49,537) -
Inventory (nole 19) " 126,418 - - 83.187 -
155,897 70,145 48,382 314,512 60,552 52,294
Movement in level 3 fair value is as follows;
2020 2019
RO000 RO000
Ralance as at T Jannary 52,294 52,319
Impairment charge for the year (3,873) -
Changes included in OC1 {39 (25)
Balance at 31 December 48,382 52,294

Investments at fair value through profit or loss amounting to RO 48.38 million (2019; RO 52.29
million) are carried at fair vatue which approximates their cost. During the year ended 31 December
2020, there were no transfers between the levels for fair value measurement of the financial
instruments held by the Group (2019: None). The assumptions used in the calculation of fair value
are disclosed in note 16b.

Capital management

The Board seeks to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board monitors the Group’s liquidity and
financial position on a regular basis. The Group periodically reviews its long term financial
commitments. There were no changes in the Group’s capital management policy during the year.
The Group also uses gearing ratio {0 monitor its capital, which is calculated as debt divided by total
capital. The Group includes within debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings. Capital includes
equity attributable to the equity holders including retained earnings, revaluation and other reserves.

2020 2019

ROG00 RO’G00

Interest bearing borrowings 5,064,047 4,772,527
Share capital 3,428,435 3,315,293
Share capital pending registration 194 113,337
Accumulated (Josses) / earnings {852,500) 940,046
Statutory reserve 152,243 95,730
Other reserves (63,744) (81,804)
Total capital 2,664,628 4,382,602

Ratio of debt to equity 1.90 1.09
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45. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The below table details changes In the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes.

At 1 Jan Financing Financing cash Non-cash Diz;tbii

2020 cash inflows outflows transactions 232'0

RO'WO0 RO'"G00 RO'000 RO'000 RO'0O0

Term loans 4,772,527 949,314 (652,400) (4,794) 5,064,647
At] Jan Financing Financing cash Non-cash D::il?:b?’ei

2019 cash inflows outflows transactions 2019

RO'000 RO'00O RO000 RO'GO0 RO'000

Term loans 4,564,974 573,777 (374,226) 3,002 4,772,527

46. Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling
interest

Summarised statement of financial position

O0OMCO
2020 2019
RO000 RO000

Current

Assets 65,021 89,732
Liabilities {(51,642) (65,651)
Total cirrent net assets 13,379 24,081
Non-current

Assets 77,452 63,084
Liabilities (17,185) (10,607)
Total non-current net assets 60,267 52,477

Net assets 73,646 76,558
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460, Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling

interest (continued)

Summarized statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Revenue

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive inconte for the year

Total comprehensive income  allocated to non-controlling

interests

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Summarised statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operafing activities
Operating activities

Intvesting activities

Financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
At | Janvary

At 31 December

The information above is before inter-company eliminations.

0OMCO
2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000
442,392 583,670
1,339 6,743
(383) (1,120)
956 5,623
956 5,623
487 2,868
1,974 1,974
00OMCO
2020 2019
RO000 RO000
14,439 9,569
(12,720) (8,143)
(7,873) (9,004)
(6,154) (7,578)
19,654 27,232
13,500 19,654
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47,

Operating segments
Basis for segmentation

The Group’s organizational structure reflects various activities in which it is engaged. At 31
December 2020, the Group had two reportable segments; Upstream and Downstream.

Upstream’s activities include oil and natural gas exploration, field development and production;
midstream transportation, storage and processing of oil and natural gas.

Downstream’s activities include the refining, manufacturing, marketing, transportation, and supply
and trading of crude oil, petroleum, petrochemicals products and related services to wholesale and
retail customers.

Other businesses and corporate mainly comprises of the Group's shipping, marketing,
manufacturing and corporate activities worldwide. None of these segments met the quantitative
thresholds for reportable segments in 2020 or 2019,

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 4, However, IFRS requires that the measure of profit or Joss disclosed for each
operating segment is the measure that is provided regularly to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of performance assessment and resource allocation. For the Group, this measure of
performance is profit or loss before tax.

Sales between segments are made at prices substantially in line with market prices, taking into
account the volumes involved. Segment revenues and segment results include transactions between

business segments.

These transactions and any unrealized profits and losses are eliminated on consolidation, unless
unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Sales to external
customers by region are based on the location of the Group subsidiary which made the sale.

Information about reportable segments and reconciliation

Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment profit (loss} before tax is
used to measure performance because management believes that this information is the mostrelevant
in evaluating the results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in the same
industries.

As a result of the Group’s realignment of its operating strategies, the chief decision maker of Group
has assessed the strategy on downstream operations and in 2020 has included OOMCO as
downstream segment. Previously OOMCO was being reported under the other segment category.
This resulted in a change in the presentation of the reportable segiments. Accordingly, the Group has
restated the previously reported segment information for the year ended 31 December 2019,
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47. Operating segments {continued)
Information about reportable segments and reconciliation (continued)
2020 RO'000 Consolidation
R ble s ts
eportable segments All other  adjustment and
Upstream®  DPownstream** segment eliminations Total
External revenues 333,383 4,851,592 208,814 5,393,789
inter-segment revenues 370,796 - - (370,796) -
Segment revenue 04,179 4,851,592 208,814 (376,796) 5,393,789
Cost of sales (excludes direct
depreciation) {230,733} (4,569,789 (185,749) 294,379 {4,691,892)
Depreciation & amortization (259,2935) {210,435} {26,434) 735 (495,429)
Share of profit (loss) of equity
accounted investees - (240,775) 36,500 - {216,275)
- mpairment losses {152,434) (1,i87,784) (3,880} - {1,344,098)
Net other operating income /
{expenditure) {4,422) (227,997 (74,573) 76,417 (230,373)
Interest income 4,129 5,646 4,084 (2,18%) 16,664
Interest expense (33,348) {84,859) (25,675) 2,189 {141,693)
Profit {loss) betore tax 28,076 (1,664,407} {67913 735 {1,703,509)
Taxation (57%) (8,828) {4,032) - (13,435}
Profit (loss) after tax 27,501 {1,673,235) (71.,%43) 735 (1,716,944)
Segment assets 2,123,043 3,184,467 4,580,799 - 9,888,309
Segment liabilities 1,178,424 5,340,146 665,940 - 7,184,516
2019 RO0O00
External revenues 337.866 6, 74,409 252537 “ 7,330,812
Inter-segment revenues 451,276 - - (451,276) -
Segment revenue 789,142 6,746,409 232,537 (451.276) 7.330.812
Cost of sales (exchudes direct
depreciation) (255,603) (6,245,048) (182.781) 321,538 (6,361,894)
Depreciation & amortization (262,74%) (218,58%) (27.370) 1,074 (507.633)
Share of profit (loss) of equity
accounted investees - (1,851) 35,997 - 34,146
- limpairment losses - (33,303) {22,369) - (35.872)
- Reversal of impairment losses 65,279 24,940 - 90,219
Net other operating expenditure (2,127 (251,728) (9.764) 129,738 {133,881}
Interest income 5,321 4,823 17,397 {7511 20,024
interest expense (33430 (123437 (25,524) 7517 (174,89%)
Profit {loss) before tax 305813 {128,724} 62.863 1,074 241026
Taxation (13.415) 8,549 {4.896) - {9,762)
Profit (foss) after tax 292,398 £120,175) 37.967 1.074 231,264
Segment assels 2,188,491 4,424,594 4,739,029 - 11,352,114
1,247 663 5,376,750 306,327 - 6,923,742

Segment liabilities
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47.

48.

Operating segments (continued)
Geographic information

The upstream and downstream segments are managed on a worldwide basis. The geographic
information analyses the Group’s revenue and non-cuirent assets by the Group entity’s country of
domicile. In presenting the geographic information, segment revenue has been based on the
geographic location of customers and segment assets were based on the geographic location of the
assets.

Domestic Foreign
2020 20619 2020 2019
RO’600 RO000 RO’G00 RO000
Revenue 1,549,231 2,154,865 3,844,559 5175947
Non-current assets 7.446,460 7,932,851 305,627 767,757

The Group’s sales to customers of crude oil and oil products were substantially made by the
Downstream segment, No customer individually contributed to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue.

The geographic information analyses the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO000

Europe 437,563 655,985
NAFTA (North American Free Trade Agreement) 297,796 405,157
APAC (Asia-Pacific) 2,591,621 3,484,796
SAM {(South American) 16,370 15,838
Middle east 1,933,964 2,593,771
Rest of the world 116,475 175,265
5,393,789 7,330,812

Comparative amount

Following corresponding figures for 2019 have been reclassified in order to conform with the
presentation for the current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported profit,
shareholder’s equity or net cash flows.

As previously As currently

reported Reclassification reported

RO'000 RO™060 RO'006

Intangible assets 143,134 9,965 153,099
(il and gas exploration and

production and development assets 1,223,909 {9,965) 1,213,944

The reclassification relates to transfer of oil and exploration assefs into intangibles.
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49.

COVID-19

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a pandemic,
and the Oman government declared tockdowns in 2020. Responding to the potentially serious threat
the COVID-19 presents to public health, the Oman government authorities have taken measures to
contain the outbreak, including introducing restrictions on the cross-borders movement of people,
entry restrictions on foreign visitors and the ‘lock-down’ of certain industries, pending further
developments which is evolving as the days progress. Some businesses in Oman have also instructed
employees to remain at home and have curtatled or temporarily suspended business operations.

The wider economic impacts of these events include:

e Disruption to business operations and economic activity in Oman, with a cascading
impact on both upstream and downstream supply chains;

e Significant disruption to businesses in certain sectors, both within Oman and in markets
with high dependence on a foreign supply chain as well as export-oriented businesses
with high reliance on foreign markets;

e Significant decrease in demand for non-essential goods and services;

An increase in economic uncertainty, reflected in more volatile asset prices and currency
exchange rates,

The Group operates in energy sector that has been significantly affected by the outbreak of
COVID-19. The Group realized relatively stable or temporarily decrease in sales and its operations
including supplies. Based on the publicly available information at the date these financial
statements were authorized for issue, management has considered the potential development of the
outbreak and its expected impact on the Group and economic environment, in which the Group
operates, including the measures already taken by the Oman government and governments in other
countries, where the Group’s major operations, business partners and customers are located.

In order to safeguard reliable and sustainable operating activities and the Group’s liquidity
position, management has implemented a number of measures, which notably include:

e implementation of work from home program on a rotational basis for a significant group
of administrative employees as well as employees in sales and procurement departments;

e employees in production department have been trained to adhere to very strict
precautionary standards including social distancing;

e adjustment to the scale of the Group’s operations to respond to the possible decrease in
demand for the products offered by the Group;

e reducing non-essential capital expenditure and deferring or cancelling all dlscretlonary
spend; and

e initiating the process of extending existing and securing additional credit lines.



0Q SAOC (formerly COMAN OIL COMPANY SAOC) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
145

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

49. COVID-19 (continued)

Based on currently publicly available information, the Group’s current KPI’s and in view of the
actions initiated by management, the Group does not anticipate a direct immediate and significant
adverse impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the Group, its operations. financial position and
operating results. The Group however cannot preclude the possibility that extended lock down
periods, an escalation in the severity of such measures, or a consequential adverse impact of such
measures on the economic environment the Group operate in may have any adverse effect on the
Group, and its financial position and operating results, in the medium and longer term. The Group
continue to monitor the situations closely and will respond to mitigate the impact of such events
and circumstances as they occur.

50. Approval of consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors on 23 March 2021,





